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It is my pleasure to deliver the Chairman’s annual report to 

shareholders for 2015.

It has been a frustrating year for many in the iron ore industry, 

but particularly for Amex.

Our Mba Delta Ironsands project in Fiji has been ready for 

development work to commence for several years, but we 

have been frustrated by the fact that, although we signed a 

binding contract with MCCO,  a major Chinese contractor 

in December 2013 to design, execute and complete the on 

site construction works , they were not able to perform their 

fi nancing obligations and sought to renegotiate the contract 

on terms unacceptable to Amex. As a result, in January 2015 

Amex had no choice but to move to terminate the contract 

and subsequently to seek full compensation for loss and 

damage from a Dispute Adjudication Board, as provided 

for in the contract. Following the receipt of a very detailed 

submission from Amex to the Board,  the hearing was set 

down for hearing in Singapore on 11-14 August, and a 

decision is expected to be handed down on 24 August.

Amex had made a $US20m Advance Payment to MCCO,  

to be applied to the works, which never commenced. 

When MCCO failed to repay this sum, Amex was able to 

recover same by invoking a Bank of China guarantee, which 

enabled it to pay monies outstanding to a short term lender. 

Ongoing short term fi nance requirements have also been 

arranged.  In the meantime, Amex has been negotiating with 

a highly regarded port infrastructure specialist and  leading 

Chinese construction fi rm, with previous experience in Fiji 

and knowledge of the Mba Delta project, to undertake 

and commence the port construction works provided for 

under the original contract.  Amex is also in discussions with 

several major international groups regarding supply of the 

marine fl eet required for dredging, processing and barge 

transportation of the ironsands material. 

Letter from the Chairman
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shareholding should contact the Company‘s share register

National democratic elections were held in Fiji on 17 

September 2014 and resulted in the return of the 

Government led by the Prime Minister, the Hon Voreqe 

Bainimarama and the re-entry of Fiji into the Commonwealth 

- a very positive development for Fiji and Amex’s investment 

and future operations in the country. The Government of Fiji 

has been very supportive of Amex’s situation and has been 

kept fully informed of developments at all times. 

During the quarter to June 2015, the port construction 

contract negotiations were advanced for fi nalisation of the 

tender, following a site visit in the previous quarter by the 

preferred contractor. 

The Amex board is confi dent that iron ore prices will recover 

as we move towards production, and this has been confi rmed 

by expert evidence provided by Amex to the Dispute 

Adjudication Board.    

At a current cost of around $US20-22/t, our operating costs 

remain lower than those of many of our iron ore industry 

competitors and the Company remains well positioned to 

become a low cost producer, as its low cost structure should 

ensure our ability to navigate commodity price cycles.
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Construction of Amex’s Lautoka Port facility for the 100% 

owned Mba Delta Project – comprising a dedicated sole-use 

berth for vessels of up to 60,000t capacity, barge unloading 

facility, washing plant, enclosed stockpile shed, ship loading 

infrastructure, workshops and offices – is ready to commence, 

with all regulatory approvals in place.  

As previously announced, a fixed price US$100 million 

contract for design, procurement and construction of the 

entire Project was signed in December 2013 with MCC 

Overseas Ltd (MCCO), an international engineering service 

company wholly owned by Metallurgical Corporation of 

China Ltd - a Fortune 500 Company.  Importantly, the 

contract included provision of a US$80 million funding 

component by MCCO.  

However, after failing to commence the works by the due 

date, the Contractor requested time to rearrange its internal 

funding arrangements.  Despite extensive negotiations and 

co-operation from Amex during 2014, MCCO repeatedly 

failed to provide a firm commitment to honour its funding 

obligations and commence the works.  

By the beginning of 2015, MCCO was clearly in default of the 

Contract in a way which demonstrated MCCO’s intention not 

to meet its contractual commitments.  On 8 January 2015, 

the Company issued MCCO a notice of termination of the 

FIDIC design, procurement and construction contract.  

The Company also issued MCCO a letter of demand for 

repayment of the Advance Payment of US$20 million made 

by Amex on 6 January 2014, together with a claim for loss 

and damages.  The US$20 million was recovered on 19 March 

2015 by invoking a Bank of China bank guarantee after 

MCCO’s failure to refund the money, and was remitted in full 

on the same day to the Group’s short term lender.

Amex has commenced a Dispute Adjudication Board (DAB) 

process as contemplated under the contract.  The DAB as 

appointed is a three member board based in Singapore and 

comprises Sir Richard Field (chairman), Sir Vivian Ramsay 

and Mr Shaojie Chi.  Amex made a very detailed formal 

submission to DAB on 1 June, which will be followed by 

a hearing from 11-14 August.  The decision of the DAB is 

scheduled to be handed down on 24 August 2015.  

Shortly after termination of the contract with MCCO, Amex 

initiated detailed discussions with the aim of concluding a 

new design, procurement and construction contract as soon 

as possible.  A tender submission has recently been received 

and contract negotiations for a new design, procurement and 

construction contractor are nearing completion.  

The preferred contractor is a highly regarded international 

port infrastructure specialist, with previous experience in 

Fiji and knowledge of the Mba Delta project.  A site visit to 

the port site and delta was carried out by a seven member 

team of experts from the contractor during April 2015, and 

negotiation meetings were held in both Fiji and China during 

June 2015.  

Amex is also in discussion with several major international 

groups regarding supply of the marine fleet required for 

dredging, processing and barge transportation of the 

ironsands material.  These potential suppliers are in addition 

to those companies which were involved as part of the 

previous FIDIC contract, now terminated.  

National democratic elections held in Fiji on 17 September 

2014 resulted in a return of the Government led by the Prime 

Minister, the Hon Voreqe Bainimarama, and the appointment 

of a new Minister for Lands and Mineral Resources, the Hon 

Mereseini Vuniwaqa.  

Construction of Amex’s 

Lautoka Port facility ... is 

ready to commence.

“
”
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The new Minister was formerly Acting Permanent Secretary 

for Justice and Anti-Corruption, and holds a legal degree and 

post graduate qualifications gained in Australia.  Amex has 

met with the new Minister and provided a detailed briefing of 

the Mba Delta Project and the Company.  Amex MD Matthew 

Collard also represented the Company at official functions 

during the November 2014 visit to Fiji of the President of the 

People’s Republic of China, His Excellency Xi Jinping.  

Following the elections, Fiji has been re-admitted to the 

Commonwealth and international relations have been 

normalised with countries including Australia, New Zealand 

and the United States.  This increase in international standing 

is seen as a major advance for Fiji and consequently for 

Amex’s investment and future in the country.  

Amex’s Mba Delta Project remains extremely well positioned 

to move to profitable production despite the current 

commodity cycle.  Projected operating costs are very low, 

currently assessed as US$20-22/t based on the Bankable 

Feasibility Study and subsequent movements in exchange 

rates and fuel prices.  The Board is confident that Amex 

will benefit from iron ore prices recovering in the lead 

up to production and over the planned long mine-life.  

Research and testwork into establishment of additional high 

value markets for some of the ironsands product has also 

commenced.  

MBA Delta Ironsands Project
Overview
The Company’s Mba Delta ironsands orebody occurs as a 

simple flat lying blanket of fine to coarse magnetite-bearing 

black sand, approximately 15 kilometres long by up to 4 

kilometres wide, located on the tidal and sub-tidal flats of the 

delta.  It lies at the mouth of the Ba River in the northwest 

of Fiji’s main island, Viti Levu, and is bordered by a sparsely-

populated agricultural area.

Amex’s ironsands concentrate is a high-quality and low 

impurity magnetite product which can be readily extracted at 

low cost by dredging of unconsolidated sediments, without 

the expensive crushing and grinding required by hard rock 

magnetite sources.  

The deposit lies in a shallow lagoon which has minimal 

current and wave activity and is ideally suited to extraction 

by conventional dredging methods, planned at a rate of 12 

million tonnes annually.  From the dredge, the sand will be 

pumped to a nearby barge-mounted process plant along a 

500m long floating pipeline.

Simple chemical-free magnetic separation at the process plant 

will recover the magnetite concentrate, and a fleet of up to 

four barges and a pusher tug will carry the product daily to 

the Company’s sole-use facilities nearby at Lautoka Port.  The 

host sand will be rehabilitated immediately to the delta floor.  

By adopting a marine based transportation route, the building 

and maintenance of costly rail or road transport infrastructure 

will be avoided.  At port, the concentrate will be unloaded as 

a slurry and then rinsed with fresh water to remove sea salt, 

followed by drying and stockpiling in a fully enclosed purpose 

built storage facility of 75,000 tonne capacity.  

Bulk carrier vessels of Handimax size will berth at Amex’s 

sole-use wharf facility at regular intervals to accept cargoes of 

up to 60,000 tonnes capacity via the purpose-built shiploader 

facility, for export to China.  

Following an initial six-month ramp up period, annual 

production of 750,000 tonnes of magnetite concentrate 

targeting 58% Fe will be sold primarily to steel mills in 

China.  Plans are being considered by the Board for potential 

doubling of production to 1.5 million tonnes per year during 

the second year of operation.  

Amex’s Mba Delta 

Project remains extremely 

well positioned to move to 

profitable production.

“
”
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Bathymetric surveying of the berth and marine approach 

channel to Amex’s Lautoka port site was carried out during 

the reporting period by locally-based consultants appointed 

by the Company, in preparation for dredging works required 

to deepen the berth and access areas.  Other advances made 

during the reporting period have included extension of the 

Lautoka City Council rezoning scheme, registration of a 

new survey plan for the site and agreement to a reduction 

in the number of car parking bays required for the port site 

development.  

Surveys of the barge transport route along the established 

Ba Roads shipping route, within sheltered coastal waters 

between the port and delta, were carried out by a highly 

qualified maritime pilot and Amex staff.  Inspection and 

identification of safe haven anchorages adjacent to the delta 

was also conducted, for possible use by the marine fleet 

during inclement weather.  

At the Mba Delta, a programme of dredging to re-establish 

a channel from the mouth of the Ba River into the lagoon 

has been designed by Fijian government departments.  The 

primary objective of the dredging is for potential flood 

remediation by removal of a build up of sediments which are 

partially blocking the river mouth.  These sediments form a 

small part of the overall ironsands resource, and the Company 

is deeply appreciative of the cooperation of the Fijian 

Government in seeking input from Amex to ensure that their 

forthcoming works do not sterilise or deplete any part of the 

Mba Delta orebody.  

Agreement has recently been reached with the Ministry of 

Agriculture for Amex to use the Ba River jetty facilities at the 

Nailaga dredge depot.  A separate lease agreement is being 

finalised with the Ministry of Lands under which Amex will 

improve and upgrade part of the depot as a transit base for 

crew transfer to the Mba Delta dredging operations.

The Company’s Mba Delta Project is ideally situated, close 

to a major port and the international airport at Nadi.  A 

large deposit of magnetite-rich ironsands has been defined 

by Amex and secured by grant of a long term mining lease, 

with a surrounding extensive special prospecting licence.  

The Lautoka port site is held under a long-term lease with 

Fiji Ports Corporation Limited, a Government Commercial 

company, and all approvals are in place for construction.  

Update
Design of the main infrastructure buildings at the port 

site was completed in August 2014 by local engineering 

group WesEng Consulting Ltd, including laboratory and 

control room, workshop and stores, administration building, 

guardhouse and training facility complex.  

These detailed design plans were submitted for structural 

certification, and approval by National Fire Authority, 

Occupation Health and Safety, Fiji Ports Corporation Limited 

as lessor and Lautoka City Council.  Building permits were 

issued on 15 October 2015 for all the works planned on the 

port site. 

Although this work was the responsibility of MCCO as 

contractor under the FIDIC contract, it was commissioned 

by Amex in an effort to ensure construction could be 

commenced as early as possible despite delays by the 

contractor.  

The Amex Fiji team, based at the Company’s Lautoka 

office and the Sorokoba field office, have continued 

preparatory work for management of project construction 

and employment of additional project staff leading up to 

the operational phase.  The Mineral Resources Department 

has endorsed the Mine Manager’s Certificate of Production 

Manager Alivereti Tuidravuni to include responsibility for the 

Mba Delta magnetite operations.  

Mba Delta ironsands lies 

at the mouth of the Ba River 

in the northwest of Fiji’s main 

island, Viti Levu.

“
”
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Annual Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves Statement
Mineral resources and ore reserves of the Company are 

reviewed annually, as required under the JORC Code 2012, 

and reported as at the end of each financial year.  Resources 

and reserves at 30 June, 2015 are as follows:  

Project: Mba Delta

JORC Category: Indicated Resource 

Tonnes: 220,000,000

Grade Fe%: 10.9%

The resource estimate remains unchanged from the 

previous year, as no additional drilling has been carried 

out.  This estimate was first reported on 25 October, 2010 

in accordance with the JORC Code 2004 and has not been 

be updated to JORC 2012 as the information on which it is 

based has not materially changed.  

Estimation of the resource has been based on a detailed 

grid drilling programme using a barge-mounted sonic coring 

rig.  The resource as currently defined lies in an intertidal to 

shallow lagoon, between the shoreline and a line marking 

approximately two metres water depth below mean sea level 

which was the operational limit of the drill rig utilised.  

The mineralised ironsands host in-situ heavy mineral grades 

typically ranging from 10-25% HM, containing magnetite, 

pyroxene, amphibole and lesser amounts of chlorite and 

quartz.  Magnetite mineralisation is developed from surface 

to depths of up to 9.4 metres, and averages a thickness 

of 4.3 metres.  Geological and mineralisation continuity of 

this deltaic sand deposit, which covers an area 29.6 square 

kilometres, is excellent.  

Additional Stage 5 metallurgical testwork was successfully 

completed during the year using sonic drill sample material 

from the project area and Amex’s two pilot plant LIMS 

(Low Intensity Magnetic Separation) units.  Modifications 

to the magnetic characteristics of the LIMS drum, based on 

performance of the initial testwork, achieved significantly 

better performance and recoveries than with the previous 

standard drum.  

Further development of the two upgraded pilot plant units 

has been carried out in Perth prior to relocation to the 

Company’s base at Sorokoba in Fiji, where they will be used 

for bulk sample preparation and grade control evaluation.  

Environmental baseline sampling programmes were 

continued in the both the port and delta project areas during 

the year to provide a reliable database of local environmental 

conditions, and review at the Lautoka site was commenced 

into monitoring of possible sources of stormwater inflow 

from adjacent sites.  

The Company continues to work with all stakeholders 

including Government and local communities to ensure 

that legislative requirements are met and that best-practice 

environmental performance is maintained.  No breaches of or 

non-compliance with environmental conditions by Amex were 

notified during the year under review.  

Country Manager Emori Toloi has continued to build the 

Company’s regular consultation and active engagement with 

local communities and stakeholders from the Sorokoba field 

base, where he resides with his family.  
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Due to project commencement delays during 2014 resulting 

from the contractor’s non-performance, Amex applied for 

adjustments to date-specific terms in the Port Lease and the 

Special Mining Lease SML60.  The port site lessor, Fiji Ports 

Corporation Limited, has granted the Company a further 

two year extension to the construction period under the 

Lautoka port lease and the Mineral Resources Department 

has extended special condition 17 of the SML60 in relation 

to commencement date of mining operations on the delta.  

Duration of the port and mining leases remains at up to 45 

years and 21 years, respectively.  

SML60 was granted as conversion of part of Amex’s 

existing Special Prospecting Licence SPL1463, for a 21 

year period from 12th June, 2012.   The Special Mining 

Lease totals 3,612.60 hectares in area and covers the 

mineral resource.  The Company has made payment of 

an environmental bond, performance guarantee and 

compensation to traditional fishing rights holders within the 

SML area for the term of the lease and mining operation.  

SPL1463 was originally granted on 9th February, 2009 

over an area of 13,225 hectares.  The term was further 

extended on 6th March, 2013 for a further three year 

period over an area of 9,674.01 hectares which reflects the 

excision of SML60 from within the SPL.  Amex is continuing 

exploration on additional exploration targets within the 

Special Prospecting Licence, under an approved work 

programme.  

CG1584 is the Company’s registered lease over Crown 

Grant 1584 at the Port of Lautoka.  Fiji Ports Corporation 

Limited, a Government Commercial Company, is the lessee of 

the 5.9190 hectares parcel which has a term of 15 years, with 

two further 15 year options taking the total lease period to 

45 years.   

Exploration Target
Extensions to the known resource and within Amex’s tenure 

have yet to be drilled and present an attractive exploration 

target, with potential to add substantially to the existing 

resource.  

Reconnaissance sampling and geological mapping has shown 

that the ironsands mineralisation extends both seawards and 

landwards from the present Indicated Resource boundaries, 

leading to definition of an additional exploration target of 

200-300 million tonnes @ 10-15% Fe.  

Amex has planned further programmes of reconnaissance 

sampling and sonic and banka drilling to test the validity 

of this exploration target within SML60 and SPL1463.  It is 

anticipated that these programmes will be conducted during 

the next 12 months.  

As required under the JORC Code, it is stated that “the 

potential quantity and grade of this exploration target 

is conceptual in nature and there has been insufficient 

exploration to define a Mineral Resource outside the current 

Indicated Resource boundaries.  It is uncertain that further 

exploration will result in the determination of additional 

Mineral Resources within this exploration target.”

Tenure and Approvals
Amex’s ironsands orebody and surrounding exploration 

area of the Mba Delta Project are held under Special Mining 

Lease SML60 and Special Prospecting Licence SPL1463, near 

the regional town of Ba.  The Company’s sole use Port Site 

CG1584 at nearby Lautoka is held under lease with Fiji Ports 

Corporation Ltd and is also the subject of a Special Site Right 

SSR13, under the Mining Act.  

Amex’s ironsands ...a 

high-quality and low impurity 

magnetite product which can 

be readily extracted at low 

cost.

“

”
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Further environmental approval has been granted by DoE for 

a Construction Environmental Management/Monitoring Plan 

(CEMP) for the port construction, which is required to detail 

the appointed Contractor, equipment to be used, works plans 

and procedures, monitoring and mitigation measures and 

social responsibilities.  The CEMP was prepared by EnviGreen 

Pacific Ltd.  

Other approvals received during the year include detailed 

Planning Approval for construction of the wharf, stockpile 

shed and facilities, loadout system and all support 

infrastructure from the Lautoka City Council and other 

relevant government agencies.   Both Fiji Ports Corporation 

Limited and the Maritime Safety Authority of Fiji provided 

approvals of the planned port infrastructure and access 

dredging.  

All approvals required to undertake construction of the 

project have now been received.

SSR13 covers the same area as CG1584.  Under the Fijian 

Mining Act, the Special Site Right is required to cover the 

activities of washing, stockpiling and loading for export of 

the magnetite concentrate to be produced from SML60.  The 

Mineral Resources Department has advised that SSR13 has 

been approved for grant, but the title has yet to be issued.  

The port lease/SSR13 is located at Lautoka, Fiji’s second 

largest city as well as the largest bulk commodity export 

port in the country.  Nadi International Airport is located less 

than 30 kilometres from Lautoka, southwest along the major 

national highway.  The Mba Delta ironsands resource is just 

30 kilometres northeast along existing shipping channels from 

Amex’s port site.  

Regulatory Approvals for the Project have been received 

from the Mineral Resources Department, Department of 

Environment, Fiji Ports Corporation Limited, Maritime Safety 

Authority of Fiji and the Lautoka City Council.  

Under the Environment Management Act (2005), the 

Department of Environment (DoE) undertakes evaluation 

site visits and draws up detailed Terms of Reference.  The 

proponent is then required to follow these in preparation 

of a comprehensive Environmental Impact Assessment 

Report (EIA) which must include stakeholder consultation 

and public awareness meetings.  Two separate EIA Reports 

were prepared, for both the dredging and port operations, 

by EnviGreen Pacific Ltd which is an independent Suva-

based environmental consultancy with particular expertise in 

coastal systems.  Environmental approvals were granted by 

DoE following assessment of these reports, also taking into 

account comments from local stakeholders and other inputs.  

Amex’s sole use 

wharf facility ... accepts 

cargoes of up to 60,000 

tonnes capacity.

“
”
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COMPETENT PERSONS STATEMENT

Information in this report that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral 

Resources or Ore Reserves for the Mba Delta Ironsands Project is based 

on information compiled by consulting geologist Geoffrey Richards of 

Lionhart Consulting Services, who is a Member of the Australian Institute 

of Geoscientists.  Mr. Richards has sufficient experience relevant to the 

styles of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to 

the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined 

in the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 

Resources and Ore Reserves -the JORC Code, 2004 Edition.  Mr. Richards 

consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his 

information in the form and context in which it appears.

Information in this report that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral 

Resources or Ore Reserves other than for the Mba Delta Ironsands Project 

is based on information compiled by consulting geologist Ian Cowden of 

Iana Pty Ltd, who is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and 

Metallurgy and a Member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists.  

Ian Cowden has sufficient experience relevant to the styles of 

mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity 

being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 

Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 

and Ore Reserves -the JORC Code, 2012 Edition.  Ian Cowden consents to 

the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the 

form and context in which it appears.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document may include forward-looking statements.  Forward-looking 

statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning Amex 

Resources Limited’s planned exploration, development and production 

programmes and other statements that are not historical facts.  When 

used in this document, the words such as “could”, “plan”, “estimate”, 

“expect”, “intend”, “may”, “potential”, “should”, and similar 

expressions are forward-looking statements.  Although Amex Resources 

Limited believes that its expectations reflected in these forward-looking 

statements are reasonable, such statements involve risks and uncertainties 

and no assurance can be given that actual results will be consistent with 

these forward-looking statements.

Western Australian Projects
As the Company’s focus remains firmly on advancement of 

the Mba Delta Ironsands Project towards production, the 

Board accepted an offer to sell its non-iron ore tenements 

for $500,000 cash in August 2014.  The Paraburdoo South 

tenure was surrendered in June 2015.  

Musgraves Nickel-Copper JV
Amex retains a 10% interest in E69/2747 in the Musgrave 

region of WA, free carried for the first $1m of exploration.  

Traka Resources Limited (ASX:  TKL) is operator and registered 

holder of the remaining interest, after Western Areas Ltd 

withdrew from their regional JV in October 2014.  

The Musgrave region of Western Australia is considered 

highly prospective for nickel and copper, although 

underexplored.  On the adjoining West Musgrave project 

area of Cassini Resources Limited (ASX:  CZI) a recent 

scoping study for the Nebo-Babel Ni-Cu project reported an 

“outstanding project with very low operating costs, long mine 

life and substantial annual nickel and copper production”.  In 

addition, diamond drilling by CZI has recently commenced at 

the advanced Succoth nickel-copper prospect. 

Annual production of 

750,000 tonnes of magnetite 

concentrate targeting 58% 

Fe will be sold primarily to 

steel mills in China.

“

”
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Your directors present their report on the Company and the Group for the year ended 30 June 2015, consisting 
of Amex Resources Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during the year ended 30 June 2015. 

DIRECTORS 

The names of the directors in office at any time during the year or since the end of the year and up to the date 
of this report are: 

Hon Richard Alston (appointed 5 August 2014) 
Dr Qin Xiao (resigned 31 July 2014) 
Matthew Collard 
Yibo Qiu 
Alan Senior (resigned 29 May 2015) 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise 
stated. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activity of the Group is mineral exploration and development. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The Group incurred a net loss of $19,079,735 (2014: loss of $15,066,079).  

DIVIDENDS 

No dividends have been declared or paid during the financial year. No recommendation to pay dividends has 
been made since the end of the financial year to the date of this report. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

During the year the Group made an operating net loss of ($19,079,735) (30 June 2014: ($15,066,079). 
$9,173,564 of the loss relates to non-cash transactions (2014: $9,873,957).The main component of this loss is 
borrowing cost expenses associated with short term loan facilities in the amount of $11,389,554 (2014: 
$11,935,617). Included in this short term loan expense is a non-cash component consisting of 2,000,000 $0.80 
unlisted options valued at $637,200 and 8,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares valued at $7,400,000. Additionally 
directors wrote down $2,053,082 of development expenditure which relates to previously capitalised 
establishment costs of the FIDIC design, procurement and construction contract signed in December 2013. 

As previously announced, in January this year the Company terminated the fixed price US$100m FIDIC design, 
procurement and construction contract with MCC Overseas Limited (MCCO) after the contractor repeatedly 
failed to provide a firm commitment to honour its funding obligations and commence the Works.   

Amex issued MCCO with a notice of dispute and a claim for loss and damages, and has commenced a Dispute 
Adjudication Board (DAB) process as contemplated under the contract.   

The DAB as appointed is a three member board based in Singapore and consists of Sir Richard Field 
(chairman), Sir Vivian Ramsay and Mr Shaojie Chi.  Amex made a very detailed formal submission to DAB on 1 
June, which will be followed by a hearing from 11-14 August.  The decision of the board is scheduled to be 
handed down on 24 August.   

The Group recovered a USD20 million advance payment on the contract by invoking a Bank of China bank 
guarantee subsequent to MCCO’s failure to refund the money. The USD20 million was received on 19 March 
2015 and remitted in full on the same day to the Group’s short term lender. 
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year were as follows: 

The Group terminated a FIDIC design, procurement and construction contract on its Mba Delta ironsands 
project in Fiji. 

Principal of a USD20 million short term loan was settled on refund of a USD20 million advance payment on this 
contract. 

The Group is pursuing a claim for loss and damages through the DAB process under the FIDIC contract terms. 

The Group is negotiating a replacement construction contract. 

The spot price of iron ore fines quoted as 62% Platts has fallen significantly during the year. The Board’s view, 
supported by a credentialed independent expert report, is that over the life of the Mba Delta project, the current 
short term oversupply situation will revert to a more normal balanced demand supply position. As a 
consequence the project’s low operating costs will ensure the robust economics of the operation. 

EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

A short term loan has been rolled twice since reporting date incurring an additional $500,436 in interest and 
fees. Refer Note 29. 

Except for those items discussed above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that 
has significantly affected, or may significantly affect: 

(a) the Group’s operations in future financial years, or 
(b) the results of those operations in future financial years, or 
(c) the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

Further developments and expected results of operations not disclosed in this Directors’ report, the Chairman’s 
letter or elsewhere in this report, to the date of this report, are considered insufficiently developed or so variable 
in nature as to quantification they remain unable to be accurately reported.  

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 

The Group’s operations are subject to significant environmental regulation under the law of the Commonwealth 
of Australia, State and Local Authorities as well as the regulations of the Republic of Fiji. Details of the Group’s 
exposure in relation to environmental regulation are as follows: 

Exploration activities are subject to significant environmental regulation under the Western Australian Mining Act 
1978 and Environmental Protection Act 1986. Similarly Fijian exploration activities are regulated by the 
Environment Management Act 2005 and the Mining Act 1966. These affect, amongst other issues, waste 
disposal, water and air pollution. 

There have been no instances of material non-compliance with regulations governing the exploration activities 
during the financial year. 

The Directors have considered compliance with the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 
which requires entities to report annual greenhouse gas emissions and energy use. For the measurement 
period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 the directors have assessed that there are no current reporting 
requirements, but may be required to do so in the future. 
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 
Hon Richard Alston – Non-Executive Chairman – Age 73 – appointed 5 August 2014 
 
Experience and expertise  
 
Richard Alston is a member of the global advisory board of London based hedge fund CQS LLP, a director of 
CQS Investment Management (Australia) Pty Ltd, Chairman of advisory board, Qato Capital Pty Ltd, member 
of national board, CPAA and Balmoral Gardens Pty Ltd. Since 2004 he has been an Adjunct Professor in the 
Business School at Bond University, Queensland. His previous corporate positions have included non-
executive chairman and director of a number of listed public and private companies both in Australia and 
overseas.  

From 2005-08 he was Australian High Commissioner (Ambassador) to the United Kingdom and a 
Commissioner of the Commonwealth War Graves Commission. 

From March 1996 to October 2003 he served as Minister for Communications, Information Technology and the 
Arts in the Australian Federal Parliament.  

Prior to entering Parliament, he practised as a barrister, with extensive experience in common law, commercial 
and administrative law. He holds Masters Degrees in Law and Business Administration from Monash University 
and Bachelor degrees in Law, Arts and Commerce from Melbourne University. 

Other current directorships – Nil 
 
Former directorships in the last 3 years  
Chime PLC 2008 – 2013. 
 
Interest in shares and options – Nil 
 
Dr Qin Xiao – Non-Executive Chairman – Age 68 - appointed 2 April 2012 – resigned 31 July 2014 
 
Experience and expertise 

Dr Qin has extensive experience in senior commercial roles and advisory positions to Chinese Government 
bodies. Dr Qin Xiao is Independent Non-Executive Director of AIA Group Ltd. Dr Qin served as Chairman of 
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. from April 2001 to September 2010 and as Chairman of China Merchants 
Group Limited from December 2000 to August 2010; President of China International Trust and Investment 
Corporation (CITIC) from April 1995 to July 2000; Vice Chairman of CITIC from July 2000 to December 2001 
and Chairman of CITIC Industrial Bank from 1998 to 2000. Dr Qin has served as Independent Non-executive 
Director of HKR International Limited since 2009 and of China Telecom Corporation Limited and China World 
Trade Center Co. Ltd since 2008 and 2010, respectively. He has been a member of the Eleventh Session of 
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference since 2008, a member of Lafarge’s International 
Advisory Board since 2007 and Chairman of the Asia Business Council since 2009. Dr Qin was appointed as 
an Independent Non-executive Chairman of the Company on 2 April 2012. 

Other current directorships 

AIA Group Limited: Non - Executive Director. 
China Telecom Corporation Limited: Non-Executive Director. 
HKR International Limited: Non-Executive Director. 
China World Trade Centre Co. Ltd: Non- Executive Director. 

Former directorships in the last 3 years - Nil 

Interest in shares and options 

2,000,000 unlisted options in Amex Resources Limited. 
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 

Matthew Collard– Managing Director - Age 41 

Experience and expertise 

Matthew has been an executive director of the Group since November 2005 and Managing Director since June 
2007. He was part of the original Board that was appointed following the completion of the external 
administration in 2005. Since then he has been responsible for the restructuring, listing and financing of the 
Company, and has been actively involved in the project generation, exploration, feasibility studies and 
development of the group. 

Under his management Amex has discovered a 220 million tonne Indicated Resource of magnetite- bearing 
ironsands, obtained mining and environmental approvals, completed detailed design, signed a significant off-
take agreement and negotiated a lump sum FIDIC contract for construction of the ironsands project. 
 
Matthew’s corporate management in recent years has focused on raising funds through sophisticated investors 
predominantly in China and has been responsible for all government liaison with Amex’s ironsands project in 
Fiji. Matthew gained a Bachelor of Agricultural Economics at the University of Sydney and then completed post 
graduate studies at Oxford University. 

Other current directorships - Nil 

Former directorships in the last 3 years - Nil 

Interest in shares and options 

1,310,000 ordinary shares in Amex Resources Limited. 
500,000 unlisted options in Amex Resources Limited. 

Yibo Qiu - Executive Director of Marketing - Age 38 

Experience and expertise 

Non-executive director since 20 September 2007, appointed executive director May 2012. Significant debt and 
capital raising expertise throughout the Chinese province of Nanjing.  

Other current directorships - Nil 

Former directorships in the last 3 years - Nil 

Special responsibilities 

Yibo was appointed executive director of marketing in May 2012. 

Interest in shares and options 

5,500,000 ordinary shares in Amex Resources Limited. 
320,000 unlisted options in Amex Resources Limited. 
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 

Alan Senior – Non-Executive Director – Age 68 – appointed 1 July 2012 – resigned 29 May 2015 

Experience and expertise 

Mr Senior, appointed to the board 1 July 2012, is a consulting engineer with over forty years’ experience in 
design and project development, mainly associated with the mining and mineral processing industry in 
Australia. Mr Senior has extensive experience at all stages of project development, from pre-feasibility through 
to commissioning and ongoing operations. 

Other current directorships 

Talisman Mining Limited - Non-Executive Chairman. 

Former directorships in the last 3 years 

Tanami Gold NL – Non-Executive Director. 

Special responsibilities - Nil 

Interest in shares and options 

500,000 unlisted options in Amex Resources Limited. 

Company Secretary 

The Company Secretary is Gary Dunlop. Mr Dunlop was appointed to the position of Company Secretary on 20 
September 2007. Mr Dunlop is responsible for preparation of financial statements and management reports 
including the maintenance of accounts and Company records. In addition, he is responsible for lodgement of 
statements with ASIC and co-ordination of independent audits of the Company accounts. Mr Dunlop has an 
interest in 1,371,526 ordinary shares and 600,000 unlisted options in Amex Resources Limited. Mr Dunlop also 
holds the position of Remuneration Officer. 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

The number of meetings of the Company’s board of directors held during the year and the numbers of meetings 
attended by each director were: 

Name of director Number of 
meetings attended 

Number of meetings 
held during term of 

office 

Dr Qin Xiao – resigned 31 July 2014 0 0 

Matthew Collard 6 6 

Yibo Qiu 5 6 

Alan Senior – resigned 29 May 2015 5 5 

Hon Richard Alston – appointed 5 
August 2014 

6 6 

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

The Audit committee was disbanded in 2012 on the resignation of two WA based non-executive members. The 
responsibilities of the audit committee continue to be undertaken by the Board of Directors. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT 

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

The report contains the following sections: 

(a) Key management personnel disclosed in this report 
(b) Remuneration policy 
(c) Contracts with Directors 
(d) Use of remuneration consultants 
(e) Voting and comments made at the company’s 2014 Annual General Meeting 
(f) Details of remuneration 
(g) Share based compensation 
(h) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel 
(i) Other transactions with key management personnel 

(a) Key management personnel disclosed in this report 

Non-Executive and Executive Directors – See Directors’ Report for information on each Director 

Hon Richard Alston – from 5 August 2014 
Alan Senior – until 29 May 2015 
Matthew Collard 
Yibo Qiu 
Dr Qin Xiao - until 31 July 2014 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Dr Chris Ure – General Manager 
Gary Crockford – General Manager, Fiji – from 1 November 2013 until 31 October 2014 
Gary Dunlop – Company Secretary 

(b) Remuneration policy 

The remuneration policy of Amex Resources Limited has been designed to align director and executive objectives 
with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component. The board of Amex 
Resources Limited believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and 
retain the best executives and directors to run and manage the Company, as well as create goal congruence 
between directors, executives and shareholders. 

The board manages the remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for executive directors and other 
senior executives. All executives receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as length of service and 
experience) and superannuation. Further remuneration including fringe benefits, options and performance 
incentives may be paid dependent upon individual performance, contract terms and the discretion of the board. 

Directors and top executive remuneration is detailed below in this directors’ report. 

All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed. Shares 
given to directors and executives are valued as the difference between the market price of those shares and the 
amount paid by the director or executive. Options are valued using the Black-Scholes methodology. 

Remuneration Report
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REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED) 

The board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, 
commitment and responsibilities. The board determines payments to non-executive directors and reviews their 
remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is 
sought when required. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is 
subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. Fees for non-executive directors are not 
linked to the performance of the Company. However to align directors’ interests with shareholder interests, 
directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company and may be offered options at the discretion of the 
board. 

The nature and amount of emoluments as detailed in this report reflects the remuneration policy above. Since 
remuneration is fixed there is no link in remuneration as a result of company performance during the reporting 
period. However the Chairman, as part of his annual remuneration review, may propose that unlisted options over 
shares be granted to the management team on the achievement of significant company milestones which provide 
benefit to shareholders and with the further aim of retaining key management personnel.  

(c) Contracts with Directors 

Matthew Collard is in the third year of a three year contract at an annual salary of $390,000 plus statutory 
superannuation contributions, reviewed annually. Other than unused annual leave entitlement and a notice period 
no termination benefits exist. 

Dr Qin Xiao provided his services as non-executive Chairman of the board, without contract, for annual 
remuneration of $78,480, reviewed annually. Resigned 31July 2014. 

Yibo Qiu is providing his services as an executive director, without contract, for annual remuneration of $150,000 
plus statutory superannuation contributions, reviewed annually. 

Alan Senior provided his services as a non-executive director, without contract, for annual remuneration of 
$42,000 plus statutory superannuation contributions, reviewed annually. Resigned 29 May 2015.   

Hon Richard Alston is providing his services as non-executive Chairman of the Board, without contract, for annual 
remuneration of $100,000 plus statutory superannuation contributions, reviewed annually - appointed 5 August 
2014. 

No service agreements exist with any other member of the Key Management Personnel Group. 

(d) Use of Remuneration Consultants 

As the Group did not engage external remuneration consultants this period, the Company Secretary in his role 
as Remuneration Officer made no remuneration recommendations to the Board. There were no remuneration 
changes for the period. 

Given no recommendations for increases to remuneration have been made, the Board is satisfied the 
recommendations for no increases were made free from undue influence from any member of the key 
management personnel. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED) 

(e) Voting and comments made at the company’s 2014 Annual General Meeting 

The company received more than 95% of yes votes on its remuneration report for the 2014 financial year. The 
company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its remuneration 
practices. 

(f) Details of remuneration 

Amount of remuneration 

Details of the remuneration of directors and key management personnel of the Group (as defined in AASB 124 
Related Party Disclosures) are set out in the following tables. 

The key management personnel of the Group are the directors listed in the table below, the General Manager of 
Operations, the General Manager Fiji Operations and the Company Secretary. No other personnel are engaged in 
managing the Group. 

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 

2015 - Table one of two – Cash Based Remuneration 

Name Short-term 
benefits 

Performance 
Bonus 

Post-employ- 
ment benefits 

Unused annual 
leave benefits 

paid out 

Consultant 
fee benefits 

Total Cash 
based 

remuneration 

Non-Executive Directors 
Dr Qin Xiao Chairman – 
resigned 31 July 2014  - - - - 6,540 6,540 

Alan Senior – resigned 29 
May 2015 38,500 - 3,657 - - 42,157 

Hon Richard Alston – 
Chairman appointed 5 
August 2014 

83,340 - 7,917 - - 91,257 

Sub-total Non-Executive 
Directors 121,840 - 11,574 - 6,540 139,954 

Executive Directors 

Matthew Collard 
Managing Director 

390,000 - 30,000 46,500 - 466,500 

Yibo Qiu 
Marketing Director  

150,000 - 14,250 - - 164,250 

Other key management personnel (Group) 

Dr Chris Ure 
General Manager 

200,000 - 19,000 - - 219,000 

Gary Crockford – General 
Manager Fiji Operations – 
appointed 1 November 2014 
until 31 October 2015 

136,550 - 31,625 - - 168,175 

Gary Dunlop 
Company Secretary 

- - - - 223,900 223,900 

Total key management 
personnel compensation 
(Group) 

998,390 - 106,449 46,500 230,440 1,381,779 

Remuneration Report
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REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED) 

Remuneration of Key management personnel 

2015 - Table two of two – Equity Based Remuneration – Options Issued 

Name 
Remuneration 

value of 
options 

Total 
Remuneration 

Option value as a 
percentage of total 

remuneration 

Dr Qin Xiao – resigned 31 July 2014 nil 6,540 0% 

Alan Senior – resigned 29 May 2015 nil 42,157 0% 

Hon Richard Alston – appointed 5 August 
2014 nil 91,257 0% 

Matthew Collard - Managing Director nil 466,500 0% 

Yibo Qiu - Executive Director  nil 164,250 0% 

Dr Chris Ure - General Manager nil 219,000 0% 

Gary Crockford - General Manager Fiji 
Operations 
- from 1 November 2013 until 31 October 
2014 

nil 168,175 0% 

Gary Dunlop - Company Secretary nil 223,900 0% 

Total key management personnel 
compensation (Group) Nil 1,381,779 0% 

None of the key management personnel of the Group received any Other Long Term Benefits or any 
Termination Benefits or any other benefits not listed above. Further details of the Consultancy Benefits detailed 
in table one above are disclosed at Note 26: Related party transactions. Further details of the equity based 
compensation detailed in table two above follow the comparative tables below. 

Additional information is disclosed at note 22 – share based payments. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED) 

Remuneration of Key management personnel 

2014 - Table one of two – Cash Based Remuneration 

Name 
Short-
term 

benefits 

Performance 
Bonus 

Post-
employ- 

ment 
benefits 

Unused 
annual 
leave 

benefits 
paid out 

Consultant 
fee benefits 

Total Cash 
based 

remuneration 

Non-Executive Directors 

Dr Qin Xiao Chairman 
– resigned 31 July 
2014  

- - - - 78,480 78,480 

Alan Senior  - resigned 
29 May 2015 42,000 - 3,885 - - 45,885 

Hon Richard Alston – 
Chairman appointed 5 
August 2014 

- - - - - - 

Sub-total Non-
Executive Directors 42,000 - 3,885 - 78,480 124,365 

Executive Directors 

Matthew Collard 
Managing Director 

390,000 - 25,000 36,000 - 451,000 

Yibo Qiu 
Marketing Director  

150,000 - 13,875 - - 163,875 

Other key management personnel (Group) 

Dr Chris Ure 
General Manager 

200,000 - 18,500 - - 218,500 

Gary Crockford – 
General Manager Fiji 
Operations – 
appointed 1 November 
2014  

241,808 - 20,512 - - 262,320 

Gary Dunlop 
Company Secretary - - - - 180,000 180,000 

Total key 
management 
personnel 
compensation 
(Group) 

1,023,808 - 81,772 36,000 258,480 1,400,060 

Remuneration Report
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REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED) 

2014 - Table two of two – Equity Based Remuneration – Options Issued 

Name Remuneration 
value of options 

Total 
Remuneration 

Option value as a 
percentage of 

total 
remuneration 

Dr Qin Xiao – resigned 31 July 2014 nil 78,480 0% 

Alan Senior – resigned 29 May 2014 nil 45,885 0% 

Hon Richard Alston – appointed 5 August 
2014 nil nil 0% 

Matthew Collard - Managing Director nil 451,000 0% 

Y Qiu - Executive director  nil 163,875 0% 

C Ure - General Manager nil 218,500 0% 

G Crockford - General Manager Fiji 
Operations 
- appointed 1 November 2013  

nil 262,320 0% 

G Dunlop - Company Secretary nil 180,000 0% 

Total key management personnel 
compensation (Group) Nil 1,400,060 0% 

None of the key management personnel of the Group received any Other Long Term Benefits or any 
Termination Benefits or any other benefits not listed above. Further details of the Consultancy Benefits detailed 
in table one above are disclosed at Note 26: Related party transactions. Further details of the equity based 
compensation detailed in table two above follow the comparative tables below. 

Additional information is disclosed at note 22 – share based payments. 

(g) Share based compensation 

No share based compensation was issued to directors or key management personnel (2014: nil). 

Remuneration Report
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REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED) 

(h) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel 

(i) Option holdings 

The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held by each director of Amex Resources Limited 
and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below. 

2015 Balance at 
start of 

year 

Granted as 
compensation 

Exercised Other 
changes 

Balance at 
end of the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable 

Directors of Amex Resources Limited 

Dr Qin Xiao –  
resigned 31 July 
2014 

2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 

Matthew Collard 1,450,000 - - (950,000) 500,000 500,000 

Alan Senior 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000 

Yibo Qiu 795,000 - - (475,000) 320,000 320,000 

Hon Richard Alston –  
appointed 5 August 
2014 

- - - - - - 

Other key management personnel of the Group 

Dr Chris Ure 150,000 - - - 150,000 150,000 

Gary Dunlop 700,000 - - (100,000) 600,000 600,000 

All vested options are exercisable immediately. 

(ii) Share holdings 

The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Amex Resources 
Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set 
out below. There were no shares granted during the reporting period as compensation. 

2015 Balance at the 
start of the 

year 

Received 
during the 
year on the 
exercise of 

options 

Other 
changes 
during 

the year 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Balance 
nominally 

held 

Directors of Amex Resources Limited 

Ordinary shares 

Dr Qin Xiao – resigned 31 July 
2014 

- - - - - 

Hon Richard Alston –  
appointed 5 August 2014 

- - - - - 

Matthew Collard 1,310,000 - - 1,310,000 1,310,000 

Alan Senior - - - - - 

Yibo Qiu 5,500,000 - - 5,500,000 4,500,000 

Other key management personnel of the Group 

Ordinary shares 

Gary Dunlop 1,292,098 - 79,428 1,371,526 - 

Remuneration Report
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REMUNERATION REPORT (CONTINUED) 

(i) Other transactions with key management personnel 

No loans have been made by the Group to any director or key management personnel. No loans have been 
received from any director or key management personnel. 

This is the end of the audited remuneration report. 

SHARES UNDER OPTION 

There were 25,250,000 shares under option at the date of this report. 2,000,000 options were granted in 2015 
(2014: 12,500,000). 1,980,000 options were exercised (2014: 275,000). 245,000 options were forfeited or 
lapsed during the year (2014: nil). Refer Note 22 (b) for further information. 

INSURANCE OF OFFICERS 

During the financial year, Amex Resources Limited paid a premium of $8,712 to insure the directors and 
secretaries of the Company and its Australian-based controlled entities. The liabilities insured are legal costs 
that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against the officers in their 
capacity as officers of entities in the Group, and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by the 
officers in connection with such proceedings. This does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct 
involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of 
information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the Company. It is not 
possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the insurance against legal costs and those 
relating to other liabilities. 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for 
the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the court under 
section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

The Company has not employed BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd on any assignments additional to the audit and 
review of the financial statements during the year. The Company has engaged an associate Company, BDO 
Corporate Tax (WA) Pty Ltd to provide corporate tax advice and to prepare the Group’s tax returns for a fee of 
$16,500 (2014: $16,320). 

The board has considered the independence of the auditor and is satisfied the provision of non-audit services is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 

AUDITOR 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Remuneration Report
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd.’s independence declaration as required by section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
can be found on page 24. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

 

 

MATTHEW COLLARD 

Director 

Dated at Perth on this the 11th day of August 2015 

Auditor’s Independence Declration
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

The Group is committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance. The Directors of the 
Group are responsible for the corporate governance practices of the Group.  

This Corporate Governance Statement is consistent with the Principles of Good Corporate Governance and 
Best Practice Recommendations (Recommendations) released by the ASX Corporate Governance Council and 
described in the 3rd edition of the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. The Group has 
adopted those recommendations where appropriate based on the size and complexity of the Group and its 
operations. The Directors regularly review the Groups corporate governance practices as the Group matures 
and its operations develop. 

Amex Resources Limited (the Company) and the board are committed to achieving and demonstrating the 
highest standards of corporate governance. The board continues to review the framework and practices to 
ensure they meet the interests of shareholders. The Company and its controlled entities together are referred to 
as the Group in this statement.  

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

The relationship between the board and senior management is critical to the Group’s long term success. The 
directors are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Group in both the short and the longer 
term and seek to balance sometimes competing objectives in the best interests of the Group as a whole. Their 
focus is to enhance the interests of shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the Group is 
properly managed. 

The responsibilities of the board include: 

• providing strategic guidance to the Company including contributing to the development of and approving 
the corporate strategy  

• reviewing and approving business plans, the annual budget and financial plans including available 
resources and major capital expenditure initiatives  

• overseeing and monitoring:  
o organisational performance and the achievement of the Group’s strategic goals and objectives 
o compliance with the Company’s Code of Conduct 
o progress of major capital expenditures and other significant corporate projects including any 

acquisitions or divestments 

• monitoring financial performance including approval of the annual and half-year financial statements and 
liaison with the Company’s auditors 

• appointment, performance, assessment, counselling and, if necessary, removal of the Managing Director 
• ratifying the appointment and/or removal and contributing to the performance assessment for the 

members of the senior management team including the CFO and the Company Secretary 
• ensuring there are effective management processes in place and approving major corporate initiatives 
• enhancing and protecting the reputation of the organisation 
• overseeing the operation of the Group’s system for compliance and risk management reporting to 

shareholders 
• ensuring appropriate resources are available to senior management. 

Day to day management of the Group’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy 
initiatives are formally delegated by the board to the Managing Director and senior executive as set out in the 
Group’s delegations policy. These delegations are reviewed on an annual basis. 

The Chairman of the board, on behalf of the full board, regularly reviews the performance of the Managing 
Director, the Marketing Director and the Company Secretary. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 

Due to the small size of the executive team there is always difficulty in implementing control checks and 
balances within the executive Group. The board accepts this and assumes a greater role in this area than it 
otherwise would in order to satisfy itself in this regard. 

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value 

The board operates in accordance with the broad principles set out in its charter which is available from the 
corporate governance information section of the Company website. The charter details the board’s composition 
and responsibilities. Due to the small size of the board the group does not have a nomination committee, nor 
does it maintain a board skills matrix, nor does it offer new directors formal induction processes or professional 
development opportunities. 

Board composition 

The charter states: 

• the board is to be comprised of both executive and non-executive directors with a majority of non-
executive directors. Non-executive directors bring a fresh perspective to the board’s consideration of 
strategic, risk and performance matters and are best placed to exercise independent judgement and 
review and constructively challenge the performance of management 

• in recognition of the importance of independent views and the board’s role in supervising the activities of 
management, the Chairman must be an independent non-executive director, the majority of the board 
should be independent of management and all directors are required to bring independent judgement to 
bear in their board decision making  

• the Chairman is elected by the full board and is required to meet regularly with the Managing Director 
• the Company is to maintain a mix of directors on the board from different backgrounds with 

complementary skills and experience 
• the board is required to undertake an annual board performance review and consider the appropriate mix 

of skills required by the board to maximise its effectiveness and its contribution to the Group. 

The board seeks to ensure that: 

• at any point in time, its membership represents an appropriate balance between directors with 
experience and knowledge of the Group and directors with an external or fresh perspective 

• the size of the board is conducive to effective discussion and efficient decision-making. 

Directors’ independence 

The board has adopted specific principles in relation to directors’ independence. These state that when 
determining independence, a director must be a non-executive and the board should consider whether the 
director: 

• not be a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a 
substantial shareholder of the Company 

• within the last three years, not have been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or any 
other Group member, or been a director after ceasing to hold any such employment 

• within the last three years not have been a principal of a material professional adviser or a material 
consultant to the Company or any other Group member, or an employee materially associated with the 
service provided 

• not be a material supplier or customer of the Company or any other Group member, or an officer of or 
otherwise associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer 

• must have no material contractual relationship with the Company or a controlled entity other than as a 
director of the Group 

• not have been on the board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially 
interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 

• be free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be 
perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company. 

Materiality for these purposes is determined on both quantitative and qualitative bases. An amount of over 5% 
of annual turnover of the Company or Group or 5% of the individual directors’ net worth is considered material 
for these purposes. In addition, a transaction of any amount or a relationship is deemed material if knowledge 
of it may impact the shareholders’ understanding of the director’s performance. Recent thinking on corporate 
governance has introduced the view that a director’s independence may be perceived to be impacted by 
lengthy service on the board. To avoid any potential concerns, the board has determined that a director will not 
be deemed independent if he or she has served on the board of the Company for more than ten years. The 
board will continue to monitor developments on this issue. 

Directors’ independence 

Board members 

Details of the members of the board, their experience, expertise, qualifications, term of office and independent 
status are set out in the directors’ report under the heading ''Information on directors''. There is one non-
executive director chairman, who is deemed independent under the principles set out below and two executive 
directors at the date of signing the directors’ report. 

Non-executive directors 

The Board currently comprises one non- executive director who meets the definition for independence as 
defined under Director’s Independence in the preceding section.  

Term of office 

The Company’s Constitution specifies that all non-executive directors must retire from office no later than the 
third annual general meeting (AGM) following their last election. Where eligible, a director may stand for re-
election. 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

The Chairman, a non-executive director, is responsible for leading the board, ensuring directors are properly 
briefed in all matters relevant to their role and responsibilities, facilitating board discussions and managing the 
board’s relationship with the Company’s senior executives. 

The CEO is responsible for implementing Group strategies and policies. The board charter specifies that these 
are separate roles to be undertaken by separate people. The role of CEO is currently performed by the 
Managing Director. 

Commitment 

Non-executive directors are expected to spend at least 15 days a year preparing for and attending board and 
committee meetings and associated activities. 

The number of meetings of the Company’s board of directors and of each board committee held during the year 
ended 30 June 2015, and the number of meetings attended by each director is disclosed in the director’s 
report. It is the Company’s practice to allow its executive directors to accept appointments outside the 
Company with prior written approval of the board. No appointments of this nature were accepted during the 
year ended 30 June 2015. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 

The commitments of non-executive directors are considered by the full board prior to the directors’ appointment 
to the board of the Company and are reviewed each year as part of the annual performance assessment. 

Prior to appointment or being submitted for re-election, each non-executive director is required to specifically 
acknowledge that they have and will continue to have the time available to discharge their responsibilities to the 
Company. 

Conflict of interests 

During the financial year and up until the date of this report there has been no conflict of interest matter occur 
between any director and the ongoing operations of the Group. 

Independent professional advice 

Directors and board committees have the right, in connection with their duties and responsibilities, to seek 
independent professional advice at the Company's expense. Prior written approval of the Chairman is required, 
but this will not be unreasonably withheld. 

Performance assessment 

The board undertakes an annual self-assessment of its collective performance, the performance of the 
Chairman and of its committees. Management are invited to contribute to this appraisal process which is 
facilitated by an independent third party. The results and any action plans are documented together with 
specific performance goals which are agreed for the coming year.  

The Chairman undertakes an annual assessment of the performance of individual directors and meets privately 
with each director to discuss this assessment. 

Principle 3: Act ethically and responsibly 

Code of Conduct 

The Company has developed a statement of values and a Code of Conduct (the Code) which has been fully 
endorsed by the board and applies to all directors and employees. The Code is regularly reviewed and updated 
as necessary to ensure it reflects the highest standards of behaviour and professionalism and the practices 
necessary to maintain confidence in the Group’s integrity. 

In summary, the Code requires that at all times all Company personnel act with the utmost integrity, objectivity 
and in compliance with the letter and the spirit of the law and Company policies. 

The purchase and sale of Company securities by directors and employees must not be undertaken where a 
conflict of interest or the use of market sensitive information will occur prior to the release of any such data to 
the market. Any transactions undertaken must be notified to, and approved by, the Chairman in advance. 

The Code and the Company’s trading policy are discussed with each new employee as part of their induction 
training and all employees are asked to sign an annual declaration confirming their compliance. 

The Code requires employees who are aware of unethical practices within the Group or breaches of the 
Company’s trading policy to report these using the Company’s whistle-blower program. This can be done 
anonymously. 

The Managing Director reviews and reports directly to the board on the compliance with the Code and the 
trading policy. Internal audit also has responsibility for the initial investigations of significant issues raised under 
the whistle-blower program. These matters are reported to the audit committee.  
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The directors are satisfied that the Group has complied with its policies on ethical standards, including trading 
in securities.  

A copy of the Code and the trading policy are available on the Company’s website. 

In compliance with recommendation 3.4 the company advises there are three women employees in the 
organisation in the capacity of Document Control (Perth), Human Resources Superintendent (Fiji) and Personal 
Assistant (Fiji), there are no women on the Board. This is a function of the small size of the organisation and an 
historical male bias in the mineral exploration industry. As the company develops in complexity more positions 
will be required to be filled and all applicants for employment positions will be assessed purely on merit and not 
on gender. 

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in in corporate reporting 

Audit committee 

The audit committee was disbanded in 2013 on the resignation of two WA based non-executive members. The 
responsibilities of the audit committee are undertaken by the Board of Directors. 

Details of the director’s qualifications are set out in the Directors’ report. All members of the Board are 
financially literate and have an appropriate understanding of the exploration industry in which the Group 
operates. 

The Board operates as the audit committee in accordance with a charter which is available on the Company 
website. The main responsibilities of the Board in this regards are to: 

• review, assess and approve the annual full and concise reports, the half year financial statements and all 
other financial information published by the Company or released to the market. 

• review the effectiveness of the organisation’s internal control environment covering: 

o effectiveness and efficiency of operations 
o reliability of financial statements 
o compliance with applicable laws and regulations 

• determine the scope of the internal audit function and ensure that its resources are adequate and used 
effectively, and assess its performance, including independence 

• monitor the internal audit function in the absence of a full time internal auditor 
• oversee the effective operation of the risk management framework 
• approve the appointment, removal and remuneration of the external auditors, and review the terms of 

their engagement, the scope and quality of the audit and assess performance 
• consider the independence and competence of the external auditor on an ongoing basis 
• review and approve the level of non-audit services provided by the external auditors and ensure it does 

not adversely impact on auditor independence 
• review and monitor related party transactions and assess their propriety. 

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Board 

• receives regular reports from management, from the internal audit process and from the external auditors 
• meets with the external auditors at least twice a year, or more frequently if necessary 
• reviews the processes the Managing Director has in place to support his certifications to the board 
• reviews any significant disagreements between the auditors and management, irrespective of whether 

they have been resolved 
• meets separately with the external auditors at least twice a year without the presence of management 
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• provides the external auditors with a clear line of direct communication at any time to the Chairman of the 
audit committee or the Chairman of the board. 

The Board has authority, within the scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information it requires from any 
employee or external party. 

External auditors 

The Company policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and independence. The 
performance of the external auditor is reviewed annually and applications for tender of external audit services 
are requested as deemed appropriate, taking into consideration assessment of performance, existing value and 
tender costs. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd is the Groups external auditor.  

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a break-down of fees for non-audit services, is 
provided in the Directors’ report and in Note 18 to the financial statements. It is the policy of the external 
auditors to provide an annual declaration of their independence to the audit committee. 

The external auditor will attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions 
about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report. 

Principles 5 and 6: Make timely and balanced disclosure and Respect the rights of security holders 

Continuous disclosure and shareholder communication  

The Company has written policies and procedures on information disclosure that focus on continuous 
disclosure of any information concerning the Group that a reasonable person would expect to have a material 
effect on the price of the Company’s securities. These policies and procedures also include the arrangements 
the Company has in place to promote communication with shareholders and encourage effective participation 
at general meetings. A summary of these policies and procedures is available on the Company’s website. 

The Company Secretary has been nominated as the person responsible for communications with the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX). This role includes responsibility for ensuring compliance with the continuous 
disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing and co-ordinating information disclosure to 
the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the public. 

All information disclosed to the ASX is posted on the Company’s website as soon as it is disclosed to the ASX. 
When analysts are briefed on aspects of the Group’s operations, the material used in the presentation is 
released to the ASX and posted on the Company’s web site. Procedures have also been established for 
reviewing whether any price sensitive information has been inadvertently disclosed and, if so, this information is 
also immediately released to the market. 

All shareholders are offered a copy of the Company’s annual (full or concise) report. In addition, the Company 
seeks to provide opportunities for shareholders to participate through electronic means.  

The website also includes an option for shareholders to register their email address for direct email updates on 
Company matters.  C 

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk 

The board, acting as the audit committee, is responsible for ensuring there are adequate policies in relation to 
risk management, compliance and internal control systems. These policies are available on the Company 
website. In summary, the Company policies are designed to ensure strategic, operational, legal, reputation and 
financial risks are identified, assessed, effectively and efficiently managed and monitored to enable 
achievement of the Group’s business objectives. 
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period.
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Director
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Considerable importance is placed on maintaining a strong control environment. There is an organisation 
structure with clearly drawn lines of accountability and delegation of authority. 

The Company risk management policy and the operation of the risk management and compliance system are 
managed by the Managing Director. The board receives quarterly reports on material risks that may impede 
meeting business objectives. 

Detailed control procedures cover management accounting, financial statements, project appraisal, 
environment, health and safety, IT security, compliance and other risk management issues. These control 
procedures are necessarily limited to the extent there is an executive team of five. The board accepts an active 
role in managing risk in this environment. In addition, the board requires that each major proposal submitted to 
the board for decision is accompanied by a comprehensive risk assessment and, where required, 
management’s proposed mitigation strategies. 

The environment, health and safety management system (EHSMS) 

The Company recognises the importance of environmental and occupational health and safety (OH&S) issues 
and is committed to the highest levels of performance. To help meet this objective the EHSMS will be 
established to facilitate the systematic identification of environmental and OH&S issues and to ensure they are 
managed in a structured manner. This system when implemented will allow the Company to: 

• monitor its compliance with all relevant legislation 
• continually assess and improve the impact of its operations on the environment 
• encourage employees to actively participate in the management of environmental and OH&S issues 
• work with trade associations representing the Group’s businesses to raise standards 
• use energy and other resources efficiently, and 
• encourage the adoption of similar standards by the Group’s principal suppliers, contractors and 

distributors. 

Information on compliance with significant environmental regulations is set out in the directors’ report. 

Corporate reporting 

The Managing Director has made the following certifications to the board: 

• that the Company’s financial statements are complete and present a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, of the financial condition and operational results of the Company and Group and are in 
accordance with relevant accounting standards 

• that the above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and 
control which implements the policies adopted by the board and that the Company’s risk management 
and internal compliance and control is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects. 

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

The board, the General Manager of Operations and the Company Secretary represent the entire management 
team of the Group. There is insufficient complexity in the senior management structure to require a separate 
remuneration committee. The board assumes the role of the remuneration committee. 

The board has devolved to the Company Secretary in conjunction with an external expert commercial agency 
the role of reviewing and recommending executive remuneration and non-executive remuneration. The board, 
when satisfied, signs off on the Company Secretary’s recommendations. 

Further information on directors’ and executive’s remuneration is set out in the Directors’ report under the 
heading “Remuneration Report”. 
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FULL YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended 30 June 2015 

2015 2014
Note $ $

(Restated)
Revenue from continuing operations 2 122,623           75,170             

Consulting fees (65,782)            (783,137)          
Employee benefit expense 3 (1,146,490)       (1,216,937)       
Administration expense 3 (2,009,015)       (2,177,968)       
Short term loan expense 3 (10,752,354)      (11,935,617)      
Faciltation fee 3 (637,200)          -                  
Exploration expenditure written off or incurred 3 (2,760)              (319,987)          
Development expenditure written off 28 (2,053,082)       -                  
Foreign exchange gain / (loss) (2,425,517)       1,387,072        
Tenement maintenance expense (78,670)            (64,161)            
Depreciation expense 7 (31,488)            (30,514)            

(Loss) before income tax (19,079,735)      (15,066,079)      

Income tax benefit 4 -                  -                  

(Loss) after tax (19,079,735)      (15,066,079)      

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operation 316,230           (29,579)            

      (18,763,505)       (15,095,658)

Loss for the year is attributable to :

Owners of Amex Resources Limited (19,079,735)      (15,066,079)      

Total comprehensive loss for the year is attributable to :

Owners of Amex Resources Limited (18,763,505)      (15,095,658)      

14 (21.11)              (18.56)              

Consolidated entity

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents per share)  

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying notes. See Note 1 for restatement as a result of change in accounting 
policy and correction of error in prior year. 

Full Year Financial Statements



Amex Resources Limited  |  Annual Report  |  2015 25

AMEX RESOURCES LIMITED 
ABN 55 089 826 237 
 

 

ANNUAL REPORT – 30 JUNE 2015 Page 26 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

As at 30 June 2015 

Consolidated Entity
2015 2014 2013

Note $ $ $
(Restated) (Restated)

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,933,708      2,778,644      4,928,139      
Trade and other receivables 6 929,162         46,688           215,847         
Other financial assets 8 54,975           480                480                
Prepayments 30 -                 22,547,914    -                 
Total current assets 2,917,845      25,373,726    5,144,466      

Non-current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 59,138           57,734           67,266           
Development expenditure 28 10,006,897    11,517,757    -                 
Exploration expenditure 9 -                 502,760         10,832,915    
Total non-current assets 10,066,035    12,078,251    10,900,181    

Total Assets 12,983,880    37,451,977    16,044,647    

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 10 317,244         283,622         255,950         
Short term borrowings 29 10,339,964    26,595,744    -                 

Total current liabilities 10,657,208    26,879,366    255,950         

Total liabilities 10,657,208    26,879,366    255,950         

Net Assets 2,326,672      10,572,611    15,788,697    

Equity
Contributed equity 11 36,733,494    26,853,130    23,270,629    
Option reserve 13 (a) 12,377,325    11,740,125    5,443,025      
Foreign exchange translation reserve 13 (b) 349,048         32,818           62,397           
Accumulated losses 12 (47,133,195)   (28,053,462)   (12,987,354)   
Total equity 2,326,672      10,572,611    15,788,697     

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. See Note 1 for restatement as a result of change in accounting policy and correction of error in prior 
year. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the year ended 30 June 2015 

2015 Contributed Accumulated Total
Equity Forex Option Losses Equity

$ $ $ $ $
Consolidated Entity

Balance at June 30 2014 - Restated 26,853,130    32,818          11,740,125   (28,053,462) 10,572,611    

Foreign exchange translation reserve -                316,230        -               -                 316,230         

Loss for the year -                -                -               (19,079,735) (19,079,735)
Total comprehensive loss for the year -                316,230        -               (19,079,735) (18,763,505)

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners

Shares issued during the year 9,880,364      -                -               -                 9,880,364      
Options issued during the year -                -                637,200        -                 637,200         
Transaction costs -                -                -               -                 -                 

Balance at 30 June 2015 36,733,494    349,048        12,377,325   (47,133,195) 2,326,672      

2014 Contributed Accumulated Total
Equity Forex Option Losses Equity

$ $ $ $ $
Consolidated Entity
Balance at June 30 2013 23,270,629    62,397          5,443,025     (11,128,731) 17,647,320    
Restatement on change of accounting policy - (note 1(f)) -                -                -               (1,858,652) (1,858,652)

Balance at 30 June 2013 - Restated 23,270,629    62,397          5,443,025     (12,987,383) 15,788,668    
Loss for the year as reported in the 2014 financial statements (13,839,682) (13,839,682)
Restatement on change in accounting policy    (note 1) (2,613,469) (2,613,469)
Adjustment on correction of error                      (note 1) 1,387,072      1,387,072      
Restated loss for the year (15,066,079) (15,066,079)

Foreign exchange translation reserve -                (29,579) -               -                 (29,579)

Loss for the year -                -                -               (15,066,079) (15,066,079)
Total comprehensive loss for the year -                (29,579) -               (15,066,079) (15,095,658)

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners

Shares issued during the year 3,582,500      -                -               -                 3,582,500      
Options issued during the year -                -                6,297,100     -                 6,297,100      
Transaction costs 1                    -                -               -                 1                    

Balance at 30 June 2014 - Restated 26,853,130    32,818          11,740,125   (28,053,462) 10,572,611    

Reserves

Reserves

 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. See Note 1 for restatement as a result of change in accounting policy and correction of error. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

2015 2014
Note $ $

(Restated)
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Payments to suppliers and employees (4,176,639)     (2,661,330)     
Interest received 4,693             68,346           
Borrowing expenses short term loan 29 (2,215,990)     (2,138,517)     
Receipts from customers 117,930         6,824             
Net cash outflow - operating activities 15 (6,270,006)     (4,724,677)     

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Research & development grant received 9 -                 2,613,469      
Payments for capitalised development expenditure 28 (332,800)        (4,113,371)     
Purchase of plant and equipment 7 -                 (20,982)          
Deposit (paid) / refunded 30 25,799,793    (22,547,914)   
Sale of tenements 9 500,000         -                 
Net cash inflow / (outflow) -  investing activities 25,966,993    (24,068,798)   

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from issue of shares (net of costs) 1,344,000      82,500           
Repayment of borrowings 29 (32,137,731)   26,595,744    
proceeds of borrowings 9,605,526      -                 

Net cash (outflow) / inflow  -  financing activities (21,188,205)   26,678,244    

Net (decrease)  in cash & cash equivalents (1,491,218)     (2,115,231)     

2,778,644      4,928,139      

Foreign exchange differences on cash 646,282         (34,264)          
 

5 1,933,708      2,778,644      

Consolidated Entity

Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
See Note 1 for restatement as a result of change in accounting policy. 

Full Year Financial Statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting  
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Australian 
Accounting Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001. 

Going concern 

The Group recorded a loss after income tax for the year of $19,079,735 (2014: loss $15,066,079). At 30 June 
2015, the Group’s assets exceed liabilities by $2,326,672 (2014: $10,572,611) and the Group had cash of 
$1,933,708. (2014: 2,778,644).  

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Group continues as a going concern. The 
directors consider this appropriate given the Group’s asset and cash position, their expectations that they will 
be able to raise additional funding through debt or equity as required, combined with realistic exploration and 
development programmed expenditure and a policy of maintaining a low overhead operating environment. 

Notwithstanding this, the Company has two existing debt facilities for AUD2 million and USD6 million 
respectively. The terms of these facilities include that they are due for repayment on 15 August 2015 and 14 
September 2015 respectively. The USD 6 million facility has rolled on four occasions since drawdown. The 
Company is negotiating terms to roll the AUD2 million facility. 

Accordingly, the Group will be required to refinance these facilities by 15 August 2015 and 14 September 2015 
or alternatively raise additional finance through debt or equity to continue as a going concern. The Group is in 
discussions with each financier to refinance or extend the facilities if necessary. To date the Group has rolled 
the USD short term unsecured loan facility four times. The Group is also reliant on raising significant equity 
capital or debt funding during the next twelve months in order to continue to develop its Mba Delta project and 
fund working capital. The Group is in detailed negotiations with financiers to fund the replacement construction 
contract. 

Furthermore, Special Mining Lease 60 in Fiji which provides Amex Resources Ltd the right to mine the Mba 
Delta project has been granted for a period of 21 years and contains eighteen conditions which the company 
must continue to comply with. One of these conditions is for the company to commence mining operations by 1 
October 2016. Due to delays in commencement of construction by the contractor, the company will likely not 
meet this condition. The company expects that the commencement date will be extended by the Fiji 
government as the Fijian Government has previously granted extensions in respect of this condition. 

If the Company is unable to obtain the continued financial support of its financiers or obtain alternative finance 
through debt or equity, there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and therefore whether it will realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the 
normal course of business and at the amounts stated in these financial statements.  

Compliance with IFRSs 

The financial statements and notes of Amex Resources Limited comply with International Financial Statements 
Standards (IFRSs).  

Historical cost convention 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Critical accounting estimates and significant judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise 
judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies. 

The primary significant area of judgement in these financial statements is in the recognition of income tax 
benefits, Note 4; capitalisation of exploration expenditure, Note 9; estimating when capitalised exploration costs 
are to be reclassified as capitalised development expenditure, Note 9 & Note 10; assessing impairment of 
capitalised exploration costs, Note 9 and capitalised development expenditure, Note 10 and estimating when to 
capitalise borrowing costs. Refer also Note 24. 

Changes in accounting policy and correction of prior period error. 
(i) Voluntary Change in accounting policy for refundable R&D incentives 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of a retrospective application of a 
voluntary change in accounting policy relating to R&D incentives. The previous accounting policy was to 
account for refundable R&D tax incentives as an income tax benefit. The company has determined that these 
incentives are more akin to government grants because they are not conditional upon earning taxable income. 
Refundable tax incentives are now accounted for as government grants under AASB 120 Accounting for 
Government Grants because the directors consider this policy to provide more relevant information to meet the 
economic decision-making needs of users, and to make the financial statements more reliable. The change in 
accounting policy involves restating each of the affected financial statement items for prior periods as shown in 
the table below. 

(ii) Correction of error in accounting for foreign exchange gains / losses 

During the year 30 June 2014, foreign exchange differences relating to the translation of US denominated loans 
which were incorrectly accounted for as a movement in the foreign exchange reserve in other comprehensive 
income, rather than as a foreign exchange gain/loss in the profit and loss. The error has been corrected by 
restating each of the affected financial statement items for the prior period as shown in the table below. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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 Voluntary change (i) and correction of error (ii) involves restating the follow
ing balances: 

V
oluntary	  change	  (i)	  and	  correction	  of	  error	  (ii)	  involves	  restating	  the	  follow

ing	  balances
30-‐Jun-‐14

Increase	  /
30-‐Jun-‐14

30-‐Jun-‐13
Increase	  /

30-‐Jun-‐13
previous	  policy

(decrease)
restated

previous	  policy
(decrease)

restated

Consolidated	  balance	  sheet	  (extract)

D
evelopm

ent	  expenditure	  (i)
15,989,878

(4,472,121)
11,517,757

-‐
-‐

-‐
Exploration	  expenditure	  (i)

502,760
-‐

502,760
12,691,567

(1,858,652)
10,832,915

N
et	  assets

15,044,732
(4,472,121)

10,572,611
17,647,349

(1,858,652)
15,788,697

Foreign	  exchange	  reserve	  (ii)
1,419,890

(1,387,072)
32,818

A
ccum

ulated	  losses
(24,968,413)

(3,085,049)
(28,053,462)

N
et	  equity

15,044,732
(4,472,121)

10,572,611

Consolidated	  incom
e	  statem

ent	  (extract)
Incom

e	  tax	  benefit	  (i)
2,613,469

(2,613,469)
-‐

1,432,957
(1,432,957)

-‐
Foreign	  exchange	  expense	  (ii)

-‐
1,387,072

1,387,072
Loss	  for	  the	  year

(13,839,682)
(1,226,397)

(15,066,079)
(3,473,797)

(1,432,957)
(4,906,754)

Consolidated	  statem
ent	  of	  cash	  flow

s	  (extract)
Research	  and	  developm

ent	  grant	  received	  (i)
2,613,469

(2,613,469)
-‐

1,432,957
(1,432,957)

-‐
N

et	  cash	  outflow
	  operating	  activities

(2,111,208)
(2,613,469)

(4,724,677)
(2,089,219)

(1,432,957)
(3,522,176)

Paym
ents	  for	  capitalised	  developm

ent	  expenditure	  (ii)
(4,113,371)

2,613,469
(1,499,902)

Paym
ents	  for	  capitalised	  exploration	  expenditure	  (ii)

-‐
-‐

(6,044,436)
1,432,957

(4,611,479)
N

et	  cash	  outflow
	  investing	  activities

(26,682,267)
2,613,469

(24,068,798)
(6,073,114)

1,432,957
(4,640,157)

Basic	  and	  diluted	  loss	  per	  share	  for	  the	  prior	  year	  has	  also	  been	  restated.	  The	  correction	  for	  basic	  and	  diluted	  loss	  per	  share	  w
as	  a	  decrease	  of	  ($0.015)	  per	  share

.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Income tax 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income 
based on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of the assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply 
when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or 
substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of 
deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is 
made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred 
tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other 
than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable 
profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for temporary difference between the carrying amount and 
tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the 
reversal on the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and 
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised 
directly in equity. 

Tax consolidation legislation 

Amex Resources Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation. 

The head entity, Amex Resources Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated Group account for 
their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax 
consolidated Group continues to be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Amex Resources Limited also recognises the current 
tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits 
assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated Group. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Business combinations 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business 
combinations involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments 
or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair 
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The 
consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration arrangement and the fair 
value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with 
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis, the group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. 

The excess of the consideration transferred the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the 
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share 
of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of 
the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, 
the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase. 

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are 
discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental 
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier 
under comparable terms and conditions. 

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial 
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

Impairment of assets 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for 
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating 
units). 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

Exploration Expenditure 
(i) Capitalised mining exploration and evaluation expenditure 

For each of the areas of interest, expenditure incurred in the exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources 
shall be capitalised to the statement of financial position as an exploration and evaluation asset where the 
rights to tenure are current and either the expenditure incurred is expected to be recouped through successful 
development and exploitation of the area of interest or alternatively by its sale or where the area of interest has 
not, at reporting date, reached a stage which permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically 
recoverable reserves. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(ii) Tenement and mining information option fee 

Expenditure incurred for the purchase of an option to purchase mining tenements and options shall be 
capitalised to the statement of financial position as an intangible asset. The intangible asset with a finite useful 
life will be recorded at cost and amortised over that life when economic benefits start to flow to the entity. 

This asset is tested for impairment where facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
exceed the recoverable amount of the asset. 

Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial period, which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost. 

Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, or for 
the acquisition of a business, are included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration. 

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries and branches of 
Amex Resources Limited (''Company'' or ''parent entity'') as at 30 June 2015 and the results of all subsidiaries 
and branches for the year then ended. Amex Resources Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in 
these financial statements as the Group or the consolidated entity. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity 
controls an entity when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated 
entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Subsidiaries and branches are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. Refer 
to the heading “Business combinations” on page 32. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of 
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of financial position respectively. 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of Amex Resources 
Limited. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Changes in ownership interests 

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions 
with equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying 
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or 
received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of Amex Resources Limited. 

When the group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any related interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the 
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, 
jointly controlled entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity is accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other income are reclassified 
to profit or loss. 

If the ownership interest in a jointly-controlled entity or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant 
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate. 

Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the board of 
directors. The board is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments. 

Share Based Payments 

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 

(i) Share options 

The fair value of options granted is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the employee 
become unconditionally entitled to the options. 

The fair value of the options granted excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, 
profitability and sales growth targets).  Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the 
number of options that are expected to become exercisable.  At each statement of financial position date, the 
entity revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. The employee 
benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the most recent estimate. 

Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share-based payments reserve relating to those options is 
transferred to share capital. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as 
revenue are net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The 
Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met. The amount of revenue is not 
considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognised on receipt.  

Financial assets 
(i) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 
months after the statement of financial position date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and 
receivables are included in trade and other receivables in the statement of financial position. They are 
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost. 

Recognition and derecognition 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date - the date on which the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs 
for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when 
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

Impairment 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or Group 
of financial assets is impaired. 

Fair value measurement 

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure 
purposes, the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the 
transaction will take place either: in the principle market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, assuming they act in their economic best interest. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement 
is based on its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified, into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed each 
reporting date and transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Property, plant and equipment 

Furniture, fittings and equipment is carried at cost less depreciation and impairment. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost net of residual values, overestimated 
useful lives, as follows: 

• Furniture, fittings and equipment  3-8 years 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of 
financial position date.  An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are 
included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing an asset to a working condition ready for its intended use. Assets under construction are 
recognised in assets under development. Upon commissioning, which is the date when the asset is in the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management, the 
assets are transferred into property, plant and equipment or development assets, as appropriate. 

Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use 
of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

A distinction is made between finance leases, which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee 
substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of leased assets, and operating leases, under 
which the lessor effectively retains substantially all such risks and benefits. 

Earnings / (loss) per share 
(i) Basic earnings / (loss) per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the 
year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings / (loss) per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no 
consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position.  Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows 
arising from investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are 
presented as operating cash flow. 

Foreign currency translation 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Amex Resources Limited’s functional and presentation 
currency. 

(ii) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translations at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except when they are deferred in equity as 
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the investment in 
a foreign operation.  Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets 
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

(iii) Group companies 

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows: 

• assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate 
at the date on that statement of financial position 

• income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are 
translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative 
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated 
at the dates of the transaction), and 

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, 
and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net 
investment are repaid, a proportionate share of such exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss, as 
part of the gain or loss on sale where applicable. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entities and translated at the closing rate.  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



Amex Resources Limited  |  Annual Report  |  201538

AMEX RESOURCES LIMITED 
ABN 55 089 826 237 
 

 

ANNUAL REPORT – 30 JUNE 2015 Page 39 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Development assets 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of 
interest are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested 
for impairment and then reclassified from exploration and evaluation expenditure to development expenditure. 

Development expenditure includes capitalised exploration and evaluation costs, pre-production development 
costs, development studies and other expenditure pertaining to that area of interest. Costs related to surface 
plant and equipment and any associated land and buildings are accounted for as property, plant and 
equipment. 

Development costs are accumulated in respect of each separate area of interest. Costs associated with 
commissioning new assets in the period before they are capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management, are capitalised.  

Development costs incurred after the commencement of production are capitalised to the extent they are 
expected to give rise to a future economic benefit. 

When an area of interest is abandoned or the Directors decide that it is not commercially or technically feasible, 
any accumulated cost in respect of that area is written off in the financial period that decision is made. Each 
area of interest is reviewed at the end of each accounting period and the accumulated costs written off to profit 
and loss to the extent that they will not be recoverable in the future. 

Amortisation of development costs capitalised is charged on a unit of production basis over the life of estimated 
proven and probable reserves at the mine. 

Borrowings 

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction 
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Where there is 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, the loans 
or borrowings are classified as non-current. 

Finance costs 

Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are 
expensed in the period in which they are incurred, including: 

• interest on the bank overdraft 
• interest on short-term and long-term borrowings 
• interest on finance leases 
• unwinding of the discount on provisions. 

New and amended standards adopted by the Group 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 
2015 reporting periods. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is 
set out below. 

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (effective from 1 
January 2018) 

In December 2014 the AASB issued a revised AASB 9 Financial Instruments. It is effective for accounting 
periods on or after 1 January 2018. This amends the requirements for classification and measurement of 
financial assets. This standard will have no impact on the Groups financial statements. 
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(ii) AASB 15 (issued December 2014 – effective after 1 January 2018) 

This standard requires an entity to recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services. This means that revenue will be recognised when control of goods or services is 
transferred, rather than on transfer of risks and rewards as is currently the case under IAS 18 Revenue. 

The Group does not yet sell product to generate revenue. When it does it will comply with AASB 15. This 
standard has no impact on these financial statements or future financial statements until the Group completes 
development activities and becomes a producer and seller of product. 

 

Note 2. Revenue 

2015 2014
From continuing operations $ $

Interest received 4,693              68,346              
Miscellaneous income 117,930          6,824                

122,623          75,170              

Consolidated Entity

 

 

 

Note 3. Expenses 

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses 

2015 2014
$ $

Development expenditure written off 2,053,082       319,987            
Tenement maintenance expense 78,670            64,161              

Other expenses
Administration expenses 1,918,559       2,021,377         
Short term loan expense (Note 29) 10,752,354     11,935,617       
Facilitation fee 637,200          -                    
Consultants 65,782            783,137            
Depreciation 31,488            30,514              
Operating lease 90,456            156,591            
Employee benefits 1,058,453       1,140,594         
Superannuation contributions 88,037            76,343              

14,642,329     16,144,173       

Consolidated Entity
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Note 4. Income tax expense / (benefit) 

2015 2014
(a) Income tax expense / (benefit) $ $

(Restated)
The components of income tax expense comprise:
Current tax -                  -                    
Deferred tax -                  -                    

-                  -                    

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense (19,079,735)    (15,066,079)      

Tax expense / (benefit) at 30% (2014: 30%) (5,723,921)      (4,519,824)        
Add
Tax effect of :
Non-deductible expenses 5,571,460       4,026,565         

Less:
-adjustments for current tax of prior period 96,016            5,921                
-temporary differences not recognised 123,515          (47,038)             
-DTA re tax losses not recognised (67,070)           439,289            
Impairment of exploration assets -                  95,087              

Income tax expense -                  -                    
The applicable weighted average effective tax rates are as follows 0% 0%

Consolidated Entity

 

Note 5. Cash and cash equivalents 

2015 2014
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 1,933,708       2,778,644         
Refer note 23 for risk exposure commentary

Consolidated Entity

 

Note 6. Trade and other receivables 

2015 2014
$ $

Other receivables - R&D grant 891,524          -                    
GST receivable 37,638            46,688              

929,162          46,688              

Consolidated Entity

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their 
fair value. There are no past due and not impaired receivables. Refer Note 23 for risk analysis.  
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Note 7. Property, plant and equipment 

2015 2014
$ $

Office equipment at cost 191,095          158,203            
Less accumulated depreciation (131,956)         (100,469)           

59,138            57,734              
Movements in carrying amounts

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 57,734            67,266              
Additions 32,892            20,982              
Depreciation expense (31,488)           (30,514)             
Disposals -                  -                    
Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 59,138            57,734              

Consolidated Entity

 

Note 8. Other financial assets 

2015 2014
Other financial assets $ $

Security deposits - rental bonds (Current) 54,975            480                   

54,975            480                   

Consolidated Entity

 

Note 9. Exploration expenditure - capitalised 

2015 2014
Exploration expenditure - capitalised $ $

(Restated)
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 502,760          10,832,915       
R & D grant received -                  (2,613,469)        
Expenditure capitalised during the year -                  1,174,338         
Reclassified to Development expenditure - Refer Note 28 -                  (8,571,037)        
Impairment (2,760)             (319,987)           
Disposal (500,000)         -                    
Balance at the end of the financial year -                  502,760            

Consolidated Entity

Directors have reviewed the carrying value of capitalised exploration expenditure and after seeking 
independent professional advice have formed a conservative view on the carrying value of these assets. 
The recoverability is dependent upon the continuation of the groups right to tenure of the interest, result of 
future exploration and successful development or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest. 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



Amex Resources Limited  |  Annual Report  |  201542

AMEX RESOURCES LIMITED 
ABN 55 089 826 237 
 

 

ANNUAL REPORT – 30 JUNE 2015 Page 43 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Note 10. Trade and other payables 

2015 2014
$ $

Current liabilities 317,244                      283,622 
Short term loan(s) - refer Note 29 10,339,964            26,595,744 

10,657,208     26,879,366       

Consolidated Entity

 

Note 11. Contributed equity 

2015 2014
$ $

(a) Share capital
95,820,857 fully paid ordinary shares. 36,733,494     26,853,130       
(2014: 83,146,052)

At beginning of reporting period 26,853,130     23,270,630       
Share issues 9,880,364       3,582,500         
Capital raising costs on issue of shares -                  -                    
At reporting date 36,733,494     26,853,130       

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the 
proceeds on winding up the company in proportion to 
the number of shares held

2015 2015 2014 2014
(b) Reconciliation of movement in share capital No. $ No. $

Fully paid ordinary shares 95,820,857     36,733,494     83,146,052          26,853,130 

At beginning of reporting year 83,146,052     26,853,130     79,371,052       23,270,630  
Shares issued in consideration of borrowing costs 8,000,000       7,400,000       -                    
Placement shares 2,694,805       1,886,364       3,500,000         3,500,000    
Options exercised AXZAM series 1,980,000       594,000          275,000            82,500         

At close of reporting year 95,820,857     36,733,494     83,146,052       26,853,130  

Consolidated Entity

 

Note 12. Accumulated losses 

2015 2014
$ $

(Restated)
At beginning of reporting period (28,053,462)    (12,987,383)      
Loss attributable to members (19,079,735)    (15,066,079)      
Accumulated losses at reporting date (47,133,195)    (28,053,462)      

Consolidated Entity
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Note 13. Reserves 

2015 2014
(a) Option reserve $ $

Balance 1 July 11,740,125     5,443,025         
Options issued 637,200          6,297,100         
Balance 30 June 12,377,325     11,740,125       

The options reserve is used to recognise options issued but not exercised

2015 2014
(b) Foreign currency translation reserve $ $

(Restated)
Balance 1 July 32,818            62,397              
Currency translation differences arising during
the year 316,230          (29,579)             
Balance 30 June 349,048          32,818              

Consolidated Entity

Consolidated Entity

Exchange differences arising on transactions of the foreign branch are recognised in other 
comprehensive income as described in note 1 and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. 
The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the investment is disposed of.  

 

Note 14. Loss per share 

2015 2014
$ $

(Restated)

Net loss attributable to members of the company (19,079,735)    (15,066,079)      

90,373,548     81,170,573       

Basic loss per share (cents per share) (21.11)             (18.56)               

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

None of the options have been included in the determination of the diluted loss per share as they are anti-
dilutive.

Consolidated Entity
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Note 15. Cash flow statement reconciliation 

2015 2014
$ $

(Restated)
(a) For the purpose of the cash flow statement cash 

includes cash on hand and cash on investment

(b) Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash 
flows from operating activities

Loss after income tax (19,079,735)    (15,066,079)      

Non-cash items
Option issue - part short term loan cost -                  6,297,100         
Share issue - part short term loan cost 1,136,364       3,500,000         
Share issue - short term loan extension(s) 7,400,000       -                    
Forex loss - borrowings 2,425,517       -                    
Option issue for facilitation fee 637,200          -                    
Facilitation fees written off 2,589,277       316,987            
Capitalised development expense restated for R&D grant -                  -                    
Depreciation 31,488            30,514              

Changes in assets & liabilities
(Increase) / decrease receivables (881,181)         169,160            
(Increase) / decrease inventories -                  -                    
(Increase) / decrease other assets (554,495)         -                    
(Increase) / decrease reserves -                  -                    
Increase / (decrease) payables 25,558            27,641              

Cash flows used in operating activities (6,270,007)      (4,724,677)        

Consolidated Entity

 

Note 16. Segment Information 

(a) Description of segments

(b) Segment information provided to the board

2015 Australia Fiji Total
$ $ $

Total segment revenue -                  -                  -                    

Total segment expenses (2,134,512)      -                  (2,134,512)        

Total segment loss (2,134,512)      -                  (2,134,512)        

Total segment assets -                  10,061,872     10,061,872       

Total segment liabilities (10,649,144)    (8,064)             (10,657,208)      

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the board that 
The company operates as a mineral exploration company in two geographic segments, Australia and 
Fiji.

The segment information provided to the board for the reportable segments for the year ended 30 June 
2015 is as follows:
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Note 16. Segment Information (Continued) 

2014 Australia Fiji Total
(Restated) $ $ $

Total segment revenue -                  -                  -                    

Total segment expenses (383,943)         (205)                (384,148)           

Total segment loss (383,943)         (205)                (384,148)           

Total segment assets 502,760          34,065,671     34,568,431       

Total segment liabilities (26,879,366)    -                  (26,879,366)      

2015 2014
(c) Other segment information $ $

(Restated)
(i) Segment expense reconciles to total expense as follows:

Segment expense (2,134,512)      (384,148)           
Consulting fees (65,782)           (783,137)           
Employee benefit expense (1,146,490)      (1,216,937)        
Administration expense (2,009,015)      (2,177,968)        
Short term loan expenses (11,389,554)    (11,935,617)      
Impairment of investment -                  -                    
Depreciation (31,488)           (30,514)             
Foreign exchange gain / (loss) (2,425,517)      1,387,072         
Total expenses (19,202,358)    (15,141,249)      

(ii) Segment assets reconcile to total assets as follows:

Segment assets 10,061,872     34,568,431       
Intersegment eliminations -                  -                    
Cash & cash equivalents 1,933,708       2,778,644         
Property, plant & equipment 59,138            57,734              
Other assets 929,162          47,167              
Total assets 12,983,880     37,451,976       

(iii) Segment liabilities reconcile to total liabilities as follows:

Segment liabilities (10,657,208)    (26,879,366)      
Intersegment eliminations -                  -                    
Total liabilities (10,657,208)    (26,879,366)      

(iv) Segment loss reconciles to loss before tax as follows:

Segment loss (2,134,512)      (384,148)           
Revenue from operations 122,623          75,170              
Consulting fees (65,782)           (783,137)           
Employee benefits expense (1,146,490)      (1,216,937)        
Administration expense (2,009,015)      (2,177,968)        
Short term loan expense (11,389,554)    (11,935,617)      
Depreciation expense (31,488)           (30,514)             
Foreign exchange gain / (loss) (2,425,517)      1,387,072         
Income tax (expense) / benefit -                  -                    

(19,079,735)    (15,066,079)      

Consolidated Entity
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Note 17. Dividends 

No dividends were provided for as at, or paid during, the financial year ended 30 June 2015. (2014: nil) 

Note 18. Remuneration of auditors 

During the period the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Company: 

a) Assurance services 

BDO Corporate Tax (WA) Pty Ltd provided the Group advice with regard to tax consolidation matters and 
prepared the Group’s tax returns. 

Audit Services 2015  
$ 

2014 
$ 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd   

 Audit and review of financial report 52,500 51,252 

b) Tax services 

Corporate Tax Services 2015  
$ 

2014 
$ 

BDO Corporate Tax (WA) Pty Ltd   

 Consolidation advice and preparation of tax returns 16,500 16,320 

Note 19. Contingencies 

Other than a liability under SML60 to pay a 3% royalty on exports and the action described below, the 
Company does not have any contingent liabilities or contingent assets at 30 June 2015 that are not disclosed 
elsewhere in this report.(2014: nil) 

The Group has initiated a dispute arbitration process under a FIDIC design, procurement and construction 
contract with MCC Overseas Ltd for loss and damages as a result of non-performance on a construction 
contract in Fiji. There is insufficient information available to make a determination on the quantum of damages 
that may be awarded to the Group, if successful in the action, and as such no contingent asset has been 
recorded in this report. 
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Note 20. Commitments 

a)  Capital commitments 

The Company does not have any material capital commitments as at reporting date other than those listed 
below:  

Mba Delta Project construction commitments 

A FIDIC yellow book contract was terminated during the year – a replacement contract has not yet been 
executed as at the date of this report. 

Consolidated 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

No later than one year - 53,191,489 
Longer than one year, but not longer than five years - 61,702,128 
Longer than 5 years - - 
 - 114,893,61

7 

Tenement commitments 

Consolidated 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

No later than one year 360,248 225,905 
Longer than one year, but not longer than five years - 357,650 
Longer than 5 years - - 
 360,248 583,555 

Mine lease commitment SML60 

Consolidated 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

No later than one year 29,342 25,821 
Longer than one year, but not longer than five years 117,366 103,284 
Longer than 5 years 381,441 361,494 
 528,149 490,599 

b)  Lease commitments  

The company leases office premises in West Perth, a port site and residential accommodation at Lautoka in Fiji 
and a base camp at Sorokoba in Fiji. These lease commitments are summarised in the table below. 

Consolidated 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

No later than one year 322,516 345,007 
Longer than one year, but not longer than five years 1,016,677 1,109,339 
Longer than 5 years 1,490,683 1,816,860 
 2,829,876 3,271,206 
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Fijian dollar commitments have been converted to AUD at the f/y 2015 closing rate of 1.61. USD commitments 
have been converted to AUD at $0.7707 

c)  Remuneration commitment 

 Consolidated 

 2015 2014 

Commitments for the payment of salaries and other 
remuneration under long term employment contracts in 
existence at reporting date but not recognised as 
liabilities payable 

  

Within one year 390,000 390,000 

Later than one year and not later than five years - 390,000 

Later than five years - - 

 390,000 780,000 

Note 21. Events occurring after the reporting period 

Short term loan #2 has been rolled twice since reporting date incurring an additional USD365,319  (AUD 
500,436) in capitalised interest and fees. Refer Note 29. 

Except for those items discussed above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that 
has significantly affected, or may significantly affect: 

(a) the Group’s operations in future financial years, or 
(b) the results of those operations in future financial years, or 
(c) the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

Note 22. Share-based payments 

a) (i)  Issue of shares to directors 

No shares were issued to directors in financial year 2015. (2014: nil) 

a) (ii)  Issue of shares to other parties 

8,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued to other parties as part payment for the provision of a short 
term loan. (2014: 3,500,000) 

b) (i)  Options issued to directors 
 2015  

number 
2014  

number 

Options issued to directors and key management personnel - - 

 - - 

No options were issued to directors and key management personnel in 2015 for nil consideration. 
(Consideration 2014: no unlisted options at nil consideration) 
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b) (ii) Options issued to other parties 

2015 

2,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.80 expiring 4 February 2019 were issued to an 
unrelated party as consideration for services provided. These options had a valuation at issue of $637,200. 

2014 

500,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $1.40 expiring 22 July 2017 were issued to an unrelated 
party as consideration for services provided. These options had a valuation at issue of $240,100. 

12,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $1.10 expiring 9 January 2018 were issued to an 
unrelated other party as part consideration for the provision of a short term loan. These options had a valuation 
at issue of $6,057,000. 

Option valuation 

When exercised each unlisted option is convertible into one ordinary share. The options granted to date carry 
no dividend or voting rights. 1,980,000 options that have been granted have been exercised in this period 
(2014:275,000). 245,000 options have been forfeited or lapsed (2014: nil). The weighted average price of 
options issued during the year was $0.80. (2014: $1.13). All options granted have vested. 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the year was 2.18 
years. (2014: 2.75 years) 

The weighted average exercise price of granted options at the start of the year was $1.13 (2014: $0.58). The 
weighted average exercise price of options granted during the year was $0.80 (2014: $1.13).The weighted 
average exercise price of options vested and exercisable at the end of the year was $1.18 (2014: $1.13). 
1,980,000 options were exercised during the year (2014: 275,000). 

At the start of the year there were 25,475,000 (2014: 13,250,000) options on issue. At the end of the year there 
were 25,250,000 (2014: 25,475,000) options on issue. 

Fair value of options granted 

The assessed fair value of options at grant date was, $0.3186 cents per option. The fair value at grant date is 
independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise 
price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of 
the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 

The model inputs for options granted during the year included: 

(a) options are granted for no consideration and vest immediately 
(b) exercise price $0.80 (2014: $1.40 and $1.10) 
(c) grant date 4/2/2015  (2014: 22/7/2013, 9/1/2014, 9/6/2014) 
(d) expiry date 4/2/2019 (2014: 9/1/2018) 
(e) expected price volatility of the company shares: 70% (2014: 70%) 
(f) expected dividend yield: nil (2014: nil) 
(g) risk-free interest rate: 2.55% 
(h) share price at grant date: $0.65 
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c) Expenses arising from share based payment transactions 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period were as follows: 

 2015  
$ 

2014 
$ 

   

Shares issued to directors - - 

Shares issued to key management personnel - - 

Shares issued to financiers 8,536,364 3,500,000 

Options issued to directors - - 

Options issued to key management personnel - - 

Options issued to non-related parties 637,200 6,297,100 

 9,173,564 9,797,100 

Note 23. Financial risk management  

Overview 

The Company and Group have exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments: 

• credit risk 
• liquidity risk 
• market risk 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 
framework. Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group 
through regular reviews of the risks. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s cash and cash equivalents balance. 

Cash and deposits 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing with counterparties that have an acceptable credit 
rating and dealing with recognised financial institutions with AA credit ratings. 
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Trade and other receivables 

As the Group operates in the mining exploration and development sector, it does not have trade receivables 
and therefore is not exposed to credit risk in relation to trade receivables. 

The Group has established an allowance for impairment that represents their estimate of incurred losses in 
respect of other receivables and investments. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss 
component that relates to individually significant exposures. Management does not expect any counterparty to 
fail to meet its obligations other than the amounts recognised as impaired this year. 

Presently, the Group undertakes exploration and evaluation activities exclusively in Australia and Fiji. At the 
statement of financial position date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk other than with 
financial institutions which have an acceptable credit rating. 

Exposure to credit risk 

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

  Carrying amount 

 Note 2015 2014 

  $ $ 

Loans and receivables 6&8 984,137 47,167 

Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,933,708 2,778,644 

Impairment losses 

None of the Group’s other receivables are past due (2014: nil).   

Guarantees  

Group policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries. No outstanding guarantees 
have been provided. No maximum guarantee position has been established. Directors will assess any 
requirement for guarantees on a case by case basis. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows. 
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The Company anticipates a need to raise additional capital in the next 12 months to meet forecasted 
operational activities in the 2015 / 2016 financial year. The decision on how the Company will raise future 
capital will depend on market conditions existing at that time. 

Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a 
period of 365 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme 
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted. The Group maintains no lines of credit. 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities for the consolidated entity. 

Consolidated 2015 Note 

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate 

1 year or  less 
Between 
1 and 2 
years 

Between 2 
and 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

  % $    $ 

Non-interest bearing        

Trade and other payables 10 0% 317,244 - - - 317,244 

Interest-bearing-fixed rate        

Borrowings 29 25% 8,339,964 - - - 8,339,964 

Borrowings 29 17% 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 

   10,657,208 - - - 10,657,208 

 

Consolidated 2014 Note 

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate 

1 year or  less 
Between 
1 and 2 
years 

Between 2 
and 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

  % $    $ 

Non-interest bearing        

Trade and other payables 10 0% 283,622 - - - 283,622 

Interest-bearing-fixed rate        

Borrowings 29 15% 26,595,744 - - - 26,595,744 

   26,879,366 - - - 26,879,366 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 
prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of 
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimising the return. 
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Interest rate risk 

The Group has two short term loans at fixed interest rates and is therefore not exposed to interest rate risk on 
borrowings. The finance lease arrangement the Company is negotiating will also have a fixed interest rate. 

The Group holds its cash reserves in bank accounts consisting of two cheque accounts, and an on line 
account. This maximises the return on funds held while providing sufficient funds at call to settle short term 
creditor liabilities. The Groups exposure to interest rate risk is that the fixed term interest rate will decline over 
time. 

Foreign exchange risk 

As the branch operation grows in size and complexity in Fiji the group will have increased risk to unfavourable 
foreign exchange movements. Management is monitoring exchange risk exposure and, if deemed prudent and 
cost effective, will enter into hedging arrangements. 

Currently management deems foreign exchange risk in Fiji as not yet material. However as construction begins 
on the port infrastructure and mining barges and plant and equipment the board will look to examine costs and 
benefits of hedging the Groups increasing exposure to foreign exchange rate risk.  

Where the Group borrows in US dollars a foreign exchange rate movement risk arises. Where practicable the 
Group will enter into hedging contracts. However, the Group will enter into borrowing and construction contracts 
and hold cash predominately denominated in USD, as it has in the past, and the translation of these assets and 
liabilities into the Groups’ functional currency will give rise to foreign exchange gains and losses on translation. 
Given the book, non-cash effect of this translation and the cost of hedging it may be practical for the Group to 
consider changing its functional currency to US dollars in a future period.  

The Group has borrowings in US dollars and is exposed to movements in the AUD USD exchange rate.  

Profile 

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was: 

 Consolidated 
Carrying amount 

 2015 2014 

Fixed rate instruments $ $ 

Financial assets - - 

Financial Liabilities 10,339,964 26,595,744 

 10,339,964 26,595,744 

   

Variable rate instruments   

Financial assets 1,933,708 2,778,644 

 1,933,708 2,778,644 
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Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased equity and profit or 
loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency 
rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014. 

 Profit or loss Equity 

 100bp  
increase 

100bp 
decrease 

100bp  
increase 

100bp 
decrease 

30 June 2015 $ $ $ $ 

Variable rate instruments 19,337 (19,337) 19,337 (19,337) 

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 19,337 (19,337) 19,337 (19,337) 

 

30 June 2014     

Variable rate instruments 27,786 (27,786) 27,786 (27,786) 

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 27,786 (27,786) 27,786 (27,786) 

Fair values 

Fair values versus carrying amounts 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of 
financial position, are as follows: 

Consolidated 30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

 Carrying 
amount $ 

Fair value $ Carrying 
amount $ 

Fair value $ 

Receivables 984,137 984,137 46,687 46,687 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,933,708 1,933,708 2,778,644 2,778,644 

Trade and other payables (317,244) (317,244) (283,622) (283,622) 

Borrowings (10,339,964) (10,339,964) (26,595,744) (26,595,744) 

 (7,739,363) (7,739,363) (24,054,034) (24,054,034) 

The basis for determining fair values is disclosed in Note 1. 
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Capital management 

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the cash 
position of the Group versus the exploration, development and maintenance requirements of the Group over 
the following twelve month period. Where the board identifies a requirement for additional cash the Group goes 
to market to raise funds accordingly. 

As the Group moves through the engineering, procurement, management and construction phase of the Mba 
Delta project the Group will look to borrowings to fund a proportion of the development cost. The Group will 
ensure borrowings are contemplated only after an analysis of the weighted average cost of borrowing 
compared to the weighted average cost of equity capital to determine the most appropriate and risk adverse 
level of borrowing that may be appropriate in the circumstances for the maximum return to shareholders. 

The Group does not purchase its own shares on the market nor does it have a defined share buyback plan. 

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. 

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

Note 24. Critical accounting estimates and significant judgements 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below. 

Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 

The Group tests annually whether capitalised exploration expenditure has suffered any impairment, in 
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 1 under the heading “Impairment”. Such testing requires 
the use of assumptions, professional advice and judgement. These judgements may be found to be 
subsequently in error and the carrying amount of the asset may be found to be impaired. 

Share based payments 

The Group may issue options over ordinary shares as a component of key management personnel 
remuneration. In determining the amount to expense to the profit and loss the group uses the Black- Scholes 
option pricing model. This model requires assumptions to be made in performing the valuation calculation. To 
the extent these assumptions are inaccurate then the expense recognised will be correspondingly inaccurate. 
The assumptions made are detailed at Note 22. 
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Development expenditure 

Development activities commence after commercial viability and technical feasibility of the project is 
established. Judgement is applied by management in determining when a project is commercially viable and 
technically feasible. In exercising this judgement, management is required to make certain estimates and 
assumptions as to the future events. If, after having commenced the development activity, a judgement is made 
that a development asset is impaired, the relevant capitalised amount will be written off to profit and loss. Refer 
Note 28. 

Note 25. Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of Teakdale Nominees Pty 
Ltd. 

At June 30 2015 the Company has interest in 100% (2014: 100%) of the issued ordinary shares in Teakdale 
Nominees Pty Ltd. Teakdale holds no mining tenements in Western Australia and is incorporated in Australia.  

The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 

The Fiji operation is recorded as a branch operation in these financial statements. The branch is 100% (2014: 
100%) owned by Amex Resources Limited. 

(a)  Parent entity 

The parent entity within the Group, and ultimate Australian parent entity, is Amex Resources Limited. 

(b)  Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 25. 

(c) Key management personnel 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in the remuneration report included in the 
Directors’ Report.  

 Consolidated 

 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

Short term employee benefits 998,390 1,023,808 

Annual leave paid out 46,500 36,000 

Post – employment benefits 106,449 81,772 

Consultant fee benefits 230,440 258,480 

 1,381,779 1,400,060 

(d) Transactions with related parties 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions are no more favourable 
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

Teakdale Nominees Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Amex Resources Limited, owes an unsecured loan 
balance to Amex of $50,756 (2014:$50,756). No interest is charged and no repayment arrangement is in place. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



Amex Resources Limited  |  Annual Report  |  2015 57

AMEX RESOURCES LIMITED 
ABN 55 089 826 237 
 

 

ANNUAL REPORT – 30 JUNE 2015 Page 58 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Note 26. Related party transactions 

Dr Qin Xiao provided his services as Chairman and was paid consultancy fees of $6,540 (2014: $78,480). 
Resigned 31 July 2014. 

Matthew Collard is in the third year of a three year contract at an annual salary of $390,000 plus statutory 
superannuation contributions, reviewed annually. Other than unused annual leave entitlement and a notice period 
no termination benefits exist. 

Yibo Qiu is providing his services as an executive director, without contract, for annual remuneration of $150,000 
plus statutory superannuation contributions, reviewed annually. 

Alan Senior provided his services as a non-executive director, without contract, for annual remuneration of 
$42,000 plus statutory superannuation contributions, reviewed annually. Resigned 29 May 2015. 

Hon Richard Alston is providing his services as non-executive Chairman of the Board, without contract, for annual 
remuneration of $100,000 plus statutory superannuation contributions, reviewed annually - appointed 5 August 
2014. 

Note 27. Parent entity disclosure 

The following details information related to the parent entity, Amex Resources Limited, at 30 June 2015.  The 
information presented here has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in Note 1. 

2015 2014
$ $

Current assets 7,040,003       28,600,518       
Non-current assets 5,617,366       8,815,628         
Total assets 12,657,369     37,416,146       

Current liabilities (10,649,144)    (26,879,366)      
Non-current liabilities -                  -                    
Total liabilities (10,649,144)    (26,879,366)      

Contributed equity 36,733,494     26,853,130       
Option Reserve 12,377,325     11,740,125       
Accumulated losses (47,102,593)    (28,056,474)      

Total equity 2,008,225       10,536,780       

Loss for the year (19,046,118)    (13,940,415)      

Total comprehensive loss for the year (19,046,118)    (13,940,415)      

Parent Entity

 

Guarantees: No guarantees have been entered into by the parent entity on behalf of subsidiaries. 

Contingent liabilities: No contingent liabilities exist. 
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Note 28. Development expenditure 

 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

(Restated) 

Opening balance 11,517,757 - 

Development expenditure capitalised during the year 542,222 2,946,720 

Reclassified from Capitalised exploration expenditure – Ref 
Note 9 

- 8,571,037 

Facilitation fees written off (ii) (2,053,082) - 

Closing balance 10,006,897 11,517,757 

 

(i) Development activities commence after commercial viability and technical feasibility of the project is 
established. Judgement is applied by management in determining when a project is commercially viable 
and technically feasible. Any judgements may change as new information becomes available. If, after 
having commenced the development activity, a judgment is made that a development asset is impaired, 
the appropriate amount will be written off to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. 

The recoverable amount of development expenditure is estimated on the basis of the discounted value of 
future cash flows using the fair value less cost of disposal method. The estimates of future cash flows are 
based on significant assumptions including: 

o estimates of the quantities of mineral reserves and iron ore resources for which there is a high 
degree of confidence of economic extraction and the timing of access to these reserves and 
resources being in the case of the Mba Delta Project in Fiji,  750,000 tonnes of concentrate 
production per annum over a twenty year mine life; 

o future iron ore prices, based on a commissioned report which analyses global steel supply and 
demand dynamics over the life of the project and endorsed by the Board, which concludes an 
equilibrium around LT consensus forecasts for the benchmark Platts 62% Fe fines CFR China. 
Given the delays caused by the construction contractor the project is unlikely to be in production 
before the end of 2017; 

o production rates and production costs based on approved budgets and projections being 750,000 
tonnes of concentrate production per annum at an average $25.48 FOB cost per tonne; and 

o the asset specific discount rate applicable to the cash generating unit. The Group has determined 
this to be a 9.55% nominal discount rate based on a debt to equity mix in the management model. 

o The assumption regarding a delay in achieving production requires an additional assumption that 
the Group will be able to successfully (as it has done in the past) renegotiate some of the terms of 
the special mining lease under which it holds tenure to the mining project in Fiji. 

o Future changes in assumptions upon which these estimates are based may give rise to a material 
adjustment by impairing the development expenditure. 

o An increase or decrease of 10% in the 62% Fe fines CFR China price assumption would not impact 
the impairment. 

(ii) The Group has made a specific write-off of AUD 2,053,082 in this period for previously capitalised 
establishment costs associated with the abandoned FIDIC contract. Based on the assumptions above 
the Board has made no further impairment on the carrying value of the development asset. 
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Furthermore, Special Mining Lease 60 in Fiji which provides Amex Resources Ltd the right to mine the Mba 
Delta project has been granted for a period of 21 years and contains eighteen conditions which the company 
must continue to comply with. One of these conditions is for the company to commence mining operations by 1 
October 2016. Due to delays in commencement of construction by the contractor, the company will likely not 
meet this condition. The company expects that the commencement date will be extended by the Fiji 
government as the Fijian Government has previously granted extensions in respect of this condition. 

Note 29. Short term loans 

Short term loan #1 – USD25 million 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

Opening balance 26,595,744 - 

Funds borrowed (repaid) (32,137,731) 28,130,251 

Foreign exchange (gain) / loss 5,541,987 (1,534,507) 

Closing balance - 26,595,744 

On 6 January 2014 the Company drew down US$20 million dollars of its short term loan facility of US$25 
million and deposited the funds with the construction contractor on the same date as an advance payment on 
the Mba Delta infrastructure construction contract. US$2 million was drawn down on 28th February and the 
balance of the facility was drawn down on 28th March.  

Due to the delay in construction start date, Directors decided to expense these costs as required under 
International Financial Reporting Standards as opposed to carrying them as capitalised costs.  

The cost of the loan in this period and as recorded under short term loan expense is AUD$9,608,842 (2014: 
$11,935,617) consisting of a cash component of $1,072,478 and shares of $8,536,364. 

The Group was unable to refinance this borrowing with equity or longer term debt, as anticipated in the 2014 
annual report, due to the unresolved nature of the delay as a result of the construction contractor’s inability to 
proceed with construction. 

The Group ultimately terminated the construction contract and recovered a USD20 million advance payment on 
the contract by invoking a Bank of China bank guarantee subsequent to MCCO’s failure to refund the money. 
The USD20 million was received on 19 March 2015 and remitted in full on the same day to the Group’s short 
term lender settling this borrowing in full. 

Short term loan #2 – USD6 million 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

Opening balance - - 

Funds borrowed (repaid) 7,605,526 - 

Accrued interest and fees 554,833  

Foreign exchange (gain) / loss 179,605 - 

Closing balance 8,339,964  - 
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The cost of the loan in this period as recorded under short term loan expense is AUD1,030,178 (2014: nil) 
consisting of cash payment of AUD475,345 and accrued interest owing at balance date of AUD554,833. Terms 
of short term loan number 2 – the loan is unsecured, interest is 25% per annum and the loan matures 14 
September 2015. The loan has been rolled twice since reporting date incurring an additional USD365,319 
(AUD500,436) in capitalised interest and fees.  

Short term loan #3 – AUD2 million 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

Opening balance - - 

Funds borrowed (repaid) 2,000,000 - 

Foreign exchange (gain) / loss - - 

Closing balance 2,000,000 - 

Terms of short term loan number 3   -- the loan is unsecured, interest is17% per annum, paid in advance. The 
loan matures 15 August 2015. The cost of the loan in this period as recorded under short term loan expense is 
AUD113,334 (2014: nil) consisting of cash payment of AUD113,334 and accrued interest at balance date of nil. 

Note 30. Prepayments 

 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

Opening balance 22,547,914 - 

Deposit paid (repaid) on construction contract (25,799,793) 22,547,914 

Foreign exchange gain 3,251,879  

Closing balance - 22,547,914 

This prepayment represents a US$20,000,000 advance payment that was paid on 6 January 2014 following 
execution of the Mba Delta design, procurement and construction contract with MCC Overseas Limited. The 
contract was terminated and the prepayment was required to be repaid to the Group on termination of the 
construction contract. Failure by the contractor to pay this voluntarily led to the Group executing a bank 
guarantee held as security over the prepayment. Funds were received on 19 March 2015. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

The directors’ of the Company declare that: 

1. The financial statements, comprising the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of cash 
flow, consolidated statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes, are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and: 

(a) Comply with accounting standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and  

(b) Give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of the performance for 
the year ended on that date of the consolidated entity.  

2. In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable. 

3. The consolidated entity has included in the notes to the financial statements an explicit and unreserved 
statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

4. The directors have been given declarations by the Managing Director, who fulfils the roles of chief 
executive officer and by the Company Secretary, who fulfils the role of chief financial officer, required by 
section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on 
behalf of the directors by: 

 

 

 

 

 

MATTHEW COLLARD 

Director 

Dated at Perth on this the 11th day of August 2015 

Directors’ Declaration



Amex Resources Limited  |  Annual Report  |  201562

38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

Tel: +61 8 6382 4600
Fax: +61 8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN
77 050 110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK
company limited by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under
Professional Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of Amex Resources Limited

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Amex Resources Limited, which comprises the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the
consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from
time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which
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has been given to the directors of Amex Resources Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the
directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.
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In our opinion:
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Report on the Financial Report
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loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the
consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from
time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
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assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
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of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which

has been given to the directors of Amex Resources Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the
directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.

Opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Amex Resources Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2015
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in
Note 1.

Emphasis of matter

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial report, which indicates
that the ability of the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the
refinancing of two existing debt facilities for AUD2 million and USD6 million which are due for
repayment on 15 August 2015 and 14 September 2015 respectively, and the successful raising of
necessary funding through equity or debt facilities to fund future working capital requirements and the
development of its Mba Delta project. These conditions, along with other matters as set out in Note 1,
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the consolidated
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, the consolidated entity may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June
2015. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Amex Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Dean Just
Director

Perth, 11 August 2015
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ASX Additional Information

Additional information as required by the Australian Securities 

Exchange listing rules atnd not disclosed elsewhere in this 

report. The information is current as at 11 August 2015.

Distribution of Equity Security Holders

Ordinary  
shares held

# of Share
holders

# of shares % of total 
shares

1 – 1,000 56  25,713 0.03%

1,001 –  
5,000

131  439,322 0.46%

5,001 – 
10,000

122  1,031,301 1.08%

10,001 – 
100,000

150  4,848,160 5.06%

100,001 - 63  89,476,361 93.38%

TOTAL ON 
REGISTER

522  95,820,857 100%

Substantial Shareholders  
(Including Associate Holdings)

Name Shares Held  % of Total

Kenny Zhang  16,973,592 17.71%

Perfect Done Ltd  11,500,000 12.00%

Speedy Focus Inv Ltd  10,000,000 10.44%

Ross Arancini  8,746,967 9.13%

Yibo Qiu  5,500,000 5.74%

Dirki Pty Ltd  5,361,554 5.60%

Additional Shareholder  
Information

List of Twenty Largest Shareholders

# Name
Shares 
held

% of  
total

1 Kenny Zhang 16,973,592 17.71%

2 Perfect Done Ltd 11,500,000 12.00%

3 Speedy Focus Inv Ltd 10,000,000 10.44%

4 Dirki Pty Ltd  4,817,525 5.03%

5 R J Arancini  4,237,500 4.42%

6 Ausgate Pty Ltd  4,000,000 4.17%

7 Wang Lifen  3,450,000 3.60%

8 R J & S M Arancini  2,936,246 3.06%

9 Shi Dan  2,624,784 2.74%

10 Crystal Palace Overseas 

Limited

 1,702,093 1.78%

11 Yibo Qiu  1,500,000 1.57%

12 Chen Wiece  1,500,000 1.57%

13 First Empire Success Ltd  1,500,000 1.57%

14 G Dunlop  1,371,526 1.43%

15 M Collard  1,290,000 1.35%

16 Arancini Ross J & SM  1,201,027 1.25%

17 Wu Jing  1,050,000 1.10%

18 Xing Yu Enterprises Limited  1,000,000 1.04%

19 UOB Kay Hian Hong Kong 

clients A/C

 932,038 0.97%

20 Applied Solutions Private  872,902 0.91%

Interests in Granted Exploration Tenements

Projects Tenement Unit Area Grant Date Expiry Date Interest

Mba Delta SML60 Ha 3,612.50 12-Jun-12 11-Jun-33 100%

Mba Delta SPL1463 Ha 9,674.01 09-Feb-09 05-Mar-16 100%

Mba Delta SSR13 Ha 5.9190 20-Mar-14 19-Mar-34 100%

Musgrave JV E69/2747 SB 39 13-Apr-11 12-Apr-16 10%



It is my pleasure to deliver the Chairman’s annual report to 

shareholders for 2015.

It has been a frustrating year for many in the iron ore industry, 

but particularly for Amex.

Our Mba Delta Ironsands project in Fiji has been ready for 

development work to commence for several years, but we 

have been frustrated by the fact that, although we signed a 

binding contract with MCCO,  a major Chinese contractor 

in December 2013 to design, execute and complete the on 

site construction works , they were not able to perform their 

fi nancing obligations and sought to renegotiate the contract 

on terms unacceptable to Amex. As a result, in January 2015 

Amex had no choice but to move to terminate the contract 

and subsequently to seek full compensation for loss and 

damage from a Dispute Adjudication Board, as provided 

for in the contract. Following the receipt of a very detailed 

submission from Amex to the Board,  the hearing was set 

down for hearing in Singapore on 11-14 August, and a 

decision is expected to be handed down on 24 August.

Amex had made a $US20m Advance Payment to MCCO,  

to be applied to the works, which never commenced. 

When MCCO failed to repay this sum, Amex was able to 

recover same by invoking a Bank of China guarantee, which 

enabled it to pay monies outstanding to a short term lender. 

Ongoing short term fi nance requirements have also been 

arranged.  In the meantime, Amex has been negotiating with 

a highly regarded port infrastructure specialist and  leading 

Chinese construction fi rm, with previous experience in Fiji 

and knowledge of the Mba Delta project, to undertake 

and commence the port construction works provided for 

under the original contract.  Amex is also in discussions with 

several major international groups regarding supply of the 

marine fl eet required for dredging, processing and barge 

transportation of the ironsands material. 

Letter from the Chairman
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Richard Alston

Non-Executive Chairman
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listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.  

The company‘s code is AXZ.

Share Register

Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd

770 Canning Highway

Applecross   WA   6153

Telephone:  (08) 9315 2333

Solicitor

Corrs Chambers Westgarth

240 St Georges Terrace

Perth  WA  6000

Telephone: (08) 9321 8531

Bankers

Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Beach Road

Malaga  WA

Auditor

BDO (WA) Pty Ltd

38 Station Street

Subiaco  WA  6008

Telephone:  (08) 6382 4600

Website

www.amex.net.au

Shareholders with enquiries about any aspect of their 

shareholding should contact the Company‘s share register

National democratic elections were held in Fiji on 17 

September 2014 and resulted in the return of the 

Government led by the Prime Minister, the Hon Voreqe 

Bainimarama and the re-entry of Fiji into the Commonwealth 

- a very positive development for Fiji and Amex’s investment 

and future operations in the country. The Government of Fiji 

has been very supportive of Amex’s situation and has been 

kept fully informed of developments at all times. 

During the quarter to June 2015, the port construction 

contract negotiations were advanced for fi nalisation of the 

tender, following a site visit in the previous quarter by the 

preferred contractor. 

The Amex board is confi dent that iron ore prices will recover 

as we move towards production, and this has been confi rmed 

by expert evidence provided by Amex to the Dispute 

Adjudication Board.    

At a current cost of around $US20-22/t, our operating costs 

remain lower than those of many of our iron ore industry 

competitors and the Company remains well positioned to 

become a low cost producer, as its low cost structure should 

ensure our ability to navigate commodity price cycles.
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